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The Financial Instructions

For the Investment Unit of the Social Security Corporation issued in accordance with
Article 14 of the Regulation for the Social Security Corporation’s Investment Fund
number 111 for 2001 and according to the Board’s decision number in its session
number heldon / /2002.

Chapter One

Article 1:

These instructions shall be named (The Financial Instructions of the Investment Unit of
the Social Security Corporation) and shall apply to all financial issues and shall take
effect as of the date of their approval by the Board.

Definitions

Article 2:

The following words and terms shall have the meanings stated next to each one wherever
they appear in these Instructions, unless the reference indicates otherwise:

* The Commission: The Unit’s Management Commission that was formulated in
accordance with Article 7 of Regulation number 111 for the year 2001

* The Unit: The apparatus responsible for managing the investment of the
Corporation’s funds.

* The Corporation: The Social Security Corporation.

* The Board: The Corporation’s Board of Directors.

*  The Chairman: The Commission’s Chairman.

*  The Financial Committee: The Committee formed by a Commission decision.
*  The Manager: The Unit’s Executive Manager.

* The Department: The Unit’s Administrative and Financial Department.

* The Subject Manager: The Manager of the subject department who is responsible for
any financial issues in the Unit.
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* The Balance Sheet: A statement or listing of the Unit’s balance of assets and
liabilities, sources and uses of its funds at the end of the financial year after properly
conducting the necessary inventory reconciliation entries and closing the financial
statements.

* The Estimated Budget: Estimates for various revenues and expenditures of all types
for upcoming periods whether revenue, investment or capital-related, as well as
financial resources and their uses for one financial year.

* Collectables:  All amounts of money received, which generated from sales,
commissions, interest, transfers, settlements, or other revenues or returns, regardless
of their source or nature (be they related to a regular or an extraordinary activity, and
whether they are of revenue, investment or capital nature).

* Expenses: Funds that are disbursed or are obligated for disbursement in various
forms of activities (whether of revenue, investments, or capital nature, or related to a
regular or extraordinary activity).

* Cash Advances: Funds that are disbursed or obligated for disbursement in order to
complete specific tasks, or to cover, totally or partially, payment for local or foreign
purchases, to fulfill contingent obligations, or any other objective that is in line with
the provisions of the Unit’s Regulation and these Instructions, provided they are
reconciled once their purpose is achieved.

* Financial Statements: Statements of the financial position, balance sheet, income
statement and cash flow statement, together with notes appended to them and any
other financial statements.

*  Cash Guarantees: All pledges and bank guarantees, certified checks, pecuniary and in
kind insurances presented by others or presented to other as guarantees towards the
fulfillment of obligations, pledges, or to guarantee proper implementation of projects
and services, or to guarantee the protection of rights.

*  Deposits: Amounts received or deducted or saved as a deposit for other people’s
accounts or saved in the Unit’s account for other parties.

*  Financial Control: The examination and verification of the actual occurrence of the
financial operation and the integrity of supporting documents, correct classification,
recording, posting and balancing. It also includes verification that the Unit
receivables are collected in their correct amounts and in a timely manner, and that the
Unit’s assets and property are preserved, and also verifying that funds and resources
were well-utilized in accordance with the investment strategy and policy set by the
Commission and its set plans, utilizing tools available to the Commission.
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* The Financial Year: The calendar year that begins on the first day of January of
every year and ends on the thirty-first day of December of the same year.

Chapter Two

Duties and Responsibilities

Article 3:

A. The Commission is responsible for preparing the financial and investment policies in
the Unit, and could employ all means possible to achieve effective control on the
sources and uses of funds in a manner that permits the Unit to achieve a good
financial position. This is in addition to adopting all necessary precautions in order
to preserve these funds and setting the necessary regulations, procedures and
decisions necessary to enable it to achieve control over these funds, develop them
and achieve the best investment returns, as well as preserving the true value of the
Corporation’s assets and investments, reducing investment risks, and providing the
required liquidity at all times.

B. The Chairman or his deputy shall be in charge of disbursement in the Unit in
accordance with the Commission’s decisions, the estimated budget and these
instructions.

C. The Chairman may delegate any of his authorities stated in the Unit’s Regulation or
these Instructions to the Manager or any member of the Unit staff, provided this
delegation is specific and is made in writing .

The Financial Committee
Article 4:

A. The Commission shall form a five-member committee to be named (the Financial
Committee), under the chairmanship of the Chairman, the Manager as his deputy,
and three of the Unit’s high level employees. The Committee shall perform its
duties in light of what is stated in Articles 50, 70 and 77 of these Instructions.

B. The Committee’s meetings shall be legal with the attendance of three or more
members, provided the chairman or his deputy is present. Committee decisions
and/or recommendations shall be adopted with a vote by the majority of attendees,
and, in the event of a tie in votes, the chairman of the session shall have the deciding
vote.
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Article 5:

The Manager shall be responsible for implementing all financial and investment matters
related to the general investment and financial policies and decisions issued by the
Commission, within the boundaries of the authority and responsibilities specified to him.
He shall undertake all procedures necessary for preserving the Unit’s funds.

Article 6:

The Department shall be the party responsible for performing and implementing all
financial operations related to receipt and disbursement of funds, collection of debts,
settlement of obligations, documentation of all financial transactions, preparation of all
types of accounting records, including executing investment transactions, collecting their
returns, loan installments and related revenues. The Department shall keep records and
documents necessary for indicating the flow of funds, and shall take all necessary
precautions to preserve these funds, carrying out its duties through the following sections:

A. Back-Office Support Section, which performs the following functions:

1. Receiving transactions of investment decisions, including all financial details and
supporting documents issued by the Unit to other parties of subject departments.
The section then prepares related accounting transactions. At a later stage, the
validity of the details of the investment transactions shall be verified by
comparing them with supporting documents received from other parties
pertaining to the same transactions.

2. Executing payment orders dictated by investment operations and verifying
receipt of amounts of money related to investment operations.

B. Reconciliation Section:

The Section shall prepare periodic accounts reconciliation and follow up on these
reconciliations in the unit and with related parties. The section shall inspect any
pending accounting transactions, pursue them and clarify reasons why they are
pending. The reconciliation section will verify the balances of the general ledger
accounts with its subsidiary accounts, and the balance sheet. The section would
submit a monthly report to that effect to the Manager.

C. Accounting Section:

The Accounting Section carries out posting of electronic or manual general ledger
accounts and follows up on the daily balancing of accounts, preparing daily trial
balance, stock closing entries and entries for financial statements, preparing a
statement of the daily transactions for approval and the preparation of portfolios for
accounting transactions, and placing them in safe locations.
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D. Revenue Collection Section:

The Section undertakes the collection of all forms and types of the Unit’s revenues
and collectables.

Article 7:

The Department Manager is responsible before the Manager for the implementation of
the provisions of these Instructions, as well as tasks and duties that are assigned to him
and that are specific to the preparation and design of rules, regulations, cards, records and
accounting vouchers, and their continuous development and update. The Department
Manager shall also be responsible for managing the accounts, preparing financial data on
a daily and periodic basis, and preparing the necessary decisions in accordance with the
laws and regulations, administrative decisions and applied instructions, as well as in
accordance with recognized accounting principles and standards.

Article 8:

The Department Manager shall be responsible for supervising the implementation of the
financial control procedures in accordance with the following:

A. Supervising the maintenance and organization of files, posting of accounting
transactions resulting from various Unit activities, correctly and in accordance with
recognized accounting principles by professional parties.

B. Approving disbursement, transaction and receipt vouchers and verifying that they
satisfy all financial conditions.

C. Preparing the draft of the Unit’s estimated budget in cooperation and coordination
with the departments concerned, submitting it to the Manager and following up on

its implementation after it is endorsed.

D. Reviewing daily trial balance and daily statement of accounts and submitting them to
the Manager for review and instructions.

E. Supervising and verifying the preparation of periodic accounts reconciliation, and
reviewing any outstanding entries and methods for resolving them.

F. Preparing the balance sheet, closing financial statements and cash flow statement.
G. Taking sufficient precautions and undertaking procedures capable of preserving the
Unit’s funds and assets in order to prevent any mishandling, embezzlement or

negligence.

H. Performing other assignments or tasks that the Manager assigns to him.
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Article 9:
Departments concerned must abstain from disbursing any sums of money that do not
meet all the accounting, financial and legal conditions, and should immediately report to

the Manager any violations detected.

Chapter Three

Accounting and Financial Rules and Principles

Article 10:

Pursuant to the objectives intended from these instructions, the Unit shall adopt
internationally recognized financial and accounting rules and principles in coordination
with the Unit’s certified auditors.

Article 11:

The Unit shall implement a comprehensive accounting system based on a group of
manual and/or electronic records, including all vouchers that dedicate internal control
systems , in addition to utilizing electronic systems (computers), and continually updating
and upgrading them.

Article 12:

A detailed accounts manual shall be used in classifying accounts. The manual should be
properly tabulated, reflecting symbols used to indicate the nature and type of accounts,
and drawing distinction between accounts that are related of financial resources and their
uses on one hand and expenses and revenues on the other.

Article 13:

Accounting rules and principles stated below shall apply, taking into consideration their
continuity and uniformity. In the event of changing any of these principles, the change
must be declared in the Unit’s closing financial statements. The principles are:

A. The double-entry concept shall be used in the preparation of the accounting
vouchers.

B. The accrual basis shall be used to assure relating expenses and revenues to the
financial year.

C. The rule of straight line depreciation shall apply to fixed assets, according to
percentages specified by the Commission on various assets. Consumption is
calculated on an annual basis and is posted on a monthly basis.
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D. Materials and supplies held in stock shall be evaluated on the basis of weighted
average inventory method for the relevant financial year.

E. The portfolio of stocks, bonds and loans owned by the Unit shall be evaluated in
accordance with Standard (39) of International Accounting Standards. Differences
appearing in financial statements shall be addressed at the end of the financial
period(s).

F. The Unit’s assets and liabilities drawn in foreign currencies shall be evaluated on the
basis of the current exchange rate at the financial year end. Differences resulting
from exchange rates are recorded in Jordan Dinars and posted to Profit and Loss
statements.

G. Accounts of completed projects shall be closed against fixed assets accounts, and
depreciation shall be calculated as of the date of the final completion certification
and the commissioning of the project.

H. Real estate investments shall be evaluated on an annual basis in accordance with
Standard (40) of International Accounting Standards.

I.  Disclosure, transparency and fair value principles, in accordance with recognized
accounting rules and principles are to be applied when preparing financial end of
period statements, balance sheet and cash flow statement.

Chapter Four

Collectables
Article 14:

All forms and types of the Unit’s revenues shall be collected by a revenue collection
employee/s.

Article 15:

The revenue collection employee is prohibited from receiving any sum of money from
any party unless he is provided with a receipt voucher showing the amount, method of
payment, the person authorized to pay, or to present and sign checks that are drawn on
behalf of the Unit. Under all circumstances, the revenue collection employee shall count
the amount of money before the person of concern, verifying the correspondence of the
information printed on the checks with the receipt vouchers, and asserting the integrity of
the check components.
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Article 16:

Receipt vouchers are issued against cash or checks received, including all information
related to the receipt process, indicating number and date of the receipt voucher, and
providing a copy of the receipt to the payee.

Article 17:

Received amounts, whether in the form of cash, postdated or current checks, shall be
kept in double-control safes with twin keys. The financial controller shall keep one key
and the collection employee shall keep the second. The safe shall be closed or opened
only in the presence of the two people together. Amounts of money shall be transferred to
banks the Unit deals with, either immediately on the same day or on the next working day
at most. The money shall be entered in the Unit’s accounts in those banks and shall not be
used for any other purpose or reason. All employees shall be prohibited from keeping
this money or mixing it with their own personal money.

Article 18:

It is prohibited that checks issued in the Unit’s name be endorsed for the purpose of
paying any of the Unit’s expenses or debts whatever the reason.

Article 19:

All collection operations shall be subject to inspection by the internal auditor in the Unit.
The internal auditor shall perform unscheduled and periodic stock-taking, during official
working hours, of the Unit’s cash and valuable assets at unspecified dates and times, and
shall submit a written report to the Manager.

Article 20:

For the purpose of safe-keeping the Unit’s cash funds kept by employees required to
handle cash as part of their job, the following procedures shall be adopted:

A. The Manager shall, with recommendation from the Department Manager, name the
employee who shall be required to submit a financial or judicial guarantee, and the
amount of that guarantee. The Unit shall pay all fees, stamps, and other expenses
pertaining to the issue of the guarantee.

B. The Unit shall draw mistrust insurance on employees who handle cash, and on cash
kept in the safes and in transit from cashier to the banks the Unit deals with, and vice
versa.
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Article 21:

Collectables that arrive to the Unit erroneously or unrightfully shall be returned, upon the
written approval of the Manager, and upon the recommendation of the Department
Manager. This shall exclude the scraping of relevant receipt vouchers that have been
kept beyond the specified legal term, unless otherwise decided by the Commission.

Chapter Five

Expenses

Revenue Expenses

Article 22:

Revenue expenses shall be divided according to their nature into:

A. Justified expenses, that do not require a request for approval for disbursement.

B. Non-justified expenses that require a request for approval, signed in accordance with
the Unit’s instructions for applied signatures.

Article 23:
Justified expenses include the following:

A. Expenses resulting from the implementation of rules issued in accordance with the
Unit’s Regulation, its financial instructions, the Commission’s decisions or the
Manager’s decisions, as well as taxes and fees. It is conditional that, prior to issuing
the order of disbursement, a legal voucher be presented to allow for the disbursement
of these expenses and for providing the service of relevance be verified. These
expenses are:

- Remunerations and transportation allowances for Commission members.

- Salaries, allowances and remunerations for the Chairman, the Manager and the
Unit’s employees.

- Salaries, allowances and remunerations for consultants and experts.

- Salaries, allowances and remunerations for employees and contract staff.

- External Auditors’ fees.

- Medical treatment and health insurance expenses in accordance with rules
specified in related instructions and health insurance contracts with insurance
companies.

- The Unit’s contribution and the employees’ subscriptions to the insurances for
old-age, disability, death, work injuries and diseases related to the profession in
the Corporation for all employees in the Unit.
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- End of service indemnities for all Unit employees in accordance with personnel
codes and their contracts.

- Taxes and fees.

- The Unit’s contribution to the provident fund.

B. Services and materials that are uniformly priced, which are provided by public or
private institutions. These are considered contracted by nature through billing,
demands and official documents issued by the concerned parties. These are:

- Cost of fuel.

- Cost of water.

- Cost of electricity.

- Cost of the post, telegraph, and telephone, telex, facsimile, electronic mail and
other similar costs.

C. Recurring expenses that result from contracts drawn with the approval of the
relevant party in the Unit. They include:

- Rental contracts.

- Assets (machines, tools, systems, etc.) maintenance contracts.

- Life insurance contracts for the Chairman, the Manager and the employees of the
Unit and insurance against mistrust and negligence.

- Health insurance contracts for the Director, the Manager and the Unit’s
employees.

- Insurance contracts for the Unit’s buildings and its confinements.

- Cleaning contracts for the Unit’s buildings.

- Any other contracts.

Article 24:

Expenses that were not stated in the previous Article shall be considered unjustifiable by
stipulation, and hence, a request must be submitted by the concerned parties in the Unit,
accompanied by the approval from the parties of specialty, in accordance with the list of
permissible expenses set by the Commission. It is prohibited to contract or approve the
disbursement of these expenses until a request for approval is in place using the applied
form or its substitute.

Article 25:

A.

No expense shall be approved or disbursed unless the service contracted was actually
performed, material submitted and work completed. Disbursement shall be
supported by all the original documents and vouchers or approved copies of these
vouchers for. Otherwise, and in case of absolute necessity, disbursement shall be
made upon the approval of the party concerned.
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B. Subscriptions to newspapers, magazines, periodicals, books, ready-made software
bought from abroad, shall be exempt from the rules of the above Article 25 A, and
shall, conditionally, be paid for in advance and disbursed with the approval of the
authorized party.

C. Inrare and justified cases and with the Manager’s approval and the recommendation
of the Department Manager, documents in-lieu of lost may be approved, duly signed,
stamped with the original party’s stamp, and stamped with the phrase: “Original
vouchers lost. We have not received the amounts under these invoices or vouchers
and we pledge to pay the amounts if proven otherwise in future”.

D. Procedures for expense disbursement, the Unit shall be organized in accordance with
the decisions of the authorized party in this regard.

Article 26:
Administrative and organization expenses:

A. Administrative and organization expenses shall be organized by relevant
departments and sections according to their specialization as follows:

Direct purchases.

Expenses related to the Unit’s owned or rented buildings.

All maintenance and repair expenses and the like.

All expenses resulting from equipping the Unit with furniture, tools, machines,

publications, stationery and supplies.

5. Expenses for heating, water, electricity, telephone, telexes, Reuter and Swift
installation services, and expenses related to the installation of these services, in
addition to expenses related to vehicles and insurance for the Unit’s buildings,
assets, real estate and purchases.

6. Organization expenses.

7. Other expenses.

el

B. The administrative department, through its various sections, shall prepare the
following expense transactions:

1. Auditors and consultants’ fees, experts and doctors in accordance with relevant
contracts and decisions.

Post, telegraph, telephone and telex expenses.

Advertising and official holiday expenses.

All administrative expenses that originate from this Unit’s exercise of its work.
Remunerations and transportation allowances for the Commission’s Chairman
and commissioners.

U
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10.
11.
12.
13.

14.
15.

16.

Salaries and remunerations for the Manager and the employees and the wages of
daily-paid workers.

Incentives (for the Unit’s employees).

All compensations and remunerations due to employees, including contract-
employees, in accordance with personnel codes of the Unit or Labor Law.

Travel and transport allocations for the Chairman, the Manager and members of
the Commission, and employees of the Unit assigned with official and scientific
missions inside or outside the Kingdom.

Insurance premiums against death, accidents, health insurance and other
insurances for the Chairman, Manager and employees of the Unit.

Unit’s contribution to the provident fund.

Unit’s participation in and contribution to the Social Security Law.

Expenses incurred for delegates sent on educational scholarships or training
courses inside or outside the Kingdom.

Overtime wages.

Expenses for medical treatment for all employees in the Unit according to
personnel codes and relevant agreements and instructions.

Organizing the necessary transactions for subscription to newspapers, magazine,
book purchases and binding, printing and distribution of the Unit’s publications
and brochures and the subscription to foreign periodicals.

Investment Expenses

Article 27:

Banking and investment operations expenses:

A.

Banking and investment operations expenses include all expenses borne by the Unit

as

a result of exercising its basic duties outlined in the Unit’s Regulations,

investment strategy and policy as well as the instructions and decisions issued in

relation to it and resulting from the investment of its funds.

Investment expenses shall be verified by the concerned investment departments in

the Unit using their transaction records and their transaction advices issued by banks

and financial parties inside and outside the Kingdom.

The concerned department shall organize the relevant accounting vouchers for these
expenses and present them on a daily basis along with a statement of approval of
daily activities that is sent to the accounting section to be posted in conformity with

regulations.

AMIR Program 13



Administrative and Financial Instructions for the SSIC Final Report

Article 28:

When making investment decisions, the Unit shall observe the type of activity, amount
involved, and types and sectors of investments that are earmarked in the estimated budget
and the investment strategy and policy applicable. They are as follows:

A. Investment through subscription in new or existing companies and dealing in shares
through the Amman Stock Exchange in conformity with regulations.

B. Various types of loans, corporate and government bonds of all types
C. Deposits, certificates of deposit and treasury bills.

D. The purchase and ownership of lands and real estate projects, in full, of all types
ranging from building, trade centers, hotels and tourist establishments.

E. Financing the purchase and/or the construction of real estate for the benefit of the
government so that the ownership deeds are transferred to the government at the
termination of the contract and after the Corporation receives its all its dues.

F. Participation in investment funds managed by others.
G. Other financial tools determined by the Commission.
Article 29:

The Commission shall set the authority to make investment decisions in a manner that
achieves the Corporation’s objectives, purpose and interest in accordance with the code
for approving expenses.

Article 30:

Ownership documents of stocks and bonds, treasury bills, certificates of deposit, land and
real estate registration ownership certificates, loan agreements and other documents shall
be kept in secure safes that have double control. Documents shall be entered in regular
registers and shall undergo quarterly inventory stock-taking by the internal auditor.

Article 31:

It shall be verified that investment decisions are made in conformity with regulations.
Decision documents or copies of them shall be attached with the transaction documents
for disbursing the value of these investments prior to the start of the disbursement
procedure in accordance with stated instructions.
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Article 32:

The concerned department shall carry out periodic reviews, and prepare a detailed report
every three months about the portfolio of shares, guarantees, loans, bonds, treasury bills
and deposits with all relevant material. Problems that could face some of the investments
or loans shall be identified, as well as need for maintaining special allowances to meet
potential losses. This is in addition to other suggestions that could assist in the
development of the investment portfolio in a manner that would serve and achieve the
Corporation’s objectives and goals in general. This report shall hence be submitted to the
Commission via the Manager.

Capital Expenses (Fixed Assets)
Article 33:

A. Capital expenses (fixed assets) are those incurred in purchasing fixed assets for the
Unit and maintaining their ownership for the optimum period of time for the purpose
of work completion rather than for investment purposes. These include:

- Administrative lands.

- Administrative buildings.
- Machinery and equipment.
- Vehicles.

- Furniture.

- Office furnishings.

- Office equipment.

- Lockers and safes.

B. Article 13 of these instructions shall apply to depreciation of these assets.

Article 34:

A. Amounts earmarked in the estimated budget shall be taken into consideration when
making decisions to purchase fixed assets. The Commission shall be referred to for
a decision in cases of extreme urgency to purchase fixed assets that are not
earmarked in the estimated budget, along with a written recommendation from the
Manager with a clarification of reasons.

B. Fixed assets (capital expenses) shall be purchased in light of instructions about
supplies and purchases endorsed by the Board.

AMIR Program 15



Administrative and Financial Instructions for the SSIC Final Report

Article 35:

The Purchasing and Supplies Committee shall have, with the Manager’s approval, the
right to acquire the assistance of experts and specialized technicians from inside or
outside the Unit in order to benefit from their expertise in area. The Manager, upon the
recommendation of this Committee, shall have the right to grant these experts and
technicians from outside the Unit financial remunerations commensurate with their line
of work.

Chapter Six

Mechanism of Disbursing and Monitoring Expenses

Article 36:

A request for approval of the expense shall be prepared with reference to the request of
material, installations, maintenance, services or any other request by the various
departments. No request for approval of the expense shall include more than one
expense.

Article 37:

A. Permission for travel for employees being sent on official missions inside or outside
the Kingdom, or for studying or training is considered a request for approval of an
expense. The request for permission shall be organized by the concerned
employee’s department prior to his departure and made by filling out a special form
approved by the Manager.

B. When approving and disbursing transportation allocations and travel expenses, cases
and limitations outlined in the Unit’s personnel codes shall be taken into
consideration in light of the Manager’s decision on that issue.

C. The department shall pay the expenses of the employees departing abroad in
accordance with a written request by the concerned party.

Article 38:

Payments in lieu of forfeited annual leaves and end of service indemnity shall be
considered applicable by stipulation at the end of the term of service in accordance with
the regulations stated in the Unit’s personnel codes or the contracts of relevance.

Article 39:

With the exception of the Manager and the department directors, overtime wages shall be
approved in accordance with the following regulations:

AMIR Program 16



Administrative and Financial Instructions for the SSIC Final Report

A.

The direct supervisor shall organize the request for assigning overtime work,
clarifying the following:

- The names of the employees performing the work.
- The nature of the work being performed.
Any other important information.

The designated application shall be approved in writing by the Manager or his
deputy according to the recommendation of the top official or his deputy in the
concerned department.

Article 40:

The following expense transactions shall be accompanied by the supporting documents
and papers listed next to each:

A.

B.

Salaries (first time): appointment decision stating the date of commencing work.

Transportation allowances and travel expenses: travel permission, the decision to
send the employee and letter of assignment.

Overtime wages: the written assignment to work after working hours accompanied
by a statement showing the monthly hours that the employee or hired person worked
outside the official working hours, as well as a statement showing the working hours
of the employee or hired person.

Fees for official training courses and scientific missions: the decision to send the
employee in addition to an invoice from the party organizing the course.

Expenses for medical services: official invoice or claim for the value of payable
medical services that are set by the Unit, accompanied by a doctor’s visit forms,
hospital admission forms, a medical prescription, laboratory tests, x-rays and
ophthalmology tests.

Hospitality expense: request to approve the expense and Commission’s decision
along with beneficiary’s invoice.

Auditor’s: Commission’s decision on the issue.

Fees for consultants and experts: Agreement contract.

Insurance on buildings and their contents, the Commission’s assets, insurance for all
the employees and hired personnel and insurance against personal mistakes,

accidents and mistrust: decision of the authorized party as well as beneficiary’s
request, and copies of insurance policies.
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O.

Expenses for the repair and maintenance of furniture, machines, equipments,
vehicles and means of transportation, computers and personal computers,
establishments and equipment and their maintenance: the decision of the authorized
party, accompanied by the request for approval of the expense and other documents
that prove the completion of work in accordance with the contracts drawn for this
issue.

Purchases: the decision of the authorized party accompanied by the request for
approval of the expense and the minutes for receipt of supplies, the voucher of
entering the supplies to store and the beneficiary’s claim.

Advertisements: the decision of the authorized party, accompanied by the request for
approval of the expense and a copy of the newspaper where the advertisement was
published and the beneficiary’s invoice.

Telephone, post, telegraph, water, electricity, heating fuel and means of
transportation: an official bill or claim.

Subscriptions to newspapers, magazine and books: the request for approval of the
expense, voucher of receiving the books and copies of the request for and costs of

subscribing to the newspapers and magazine.

Any other voucher or document that is needed in order to disburse the expense.

Article 41:

A.

The head of the concerned section shall indicate where appropriate on the
application form approving expenses, that the expenses have not yet been paid.

The authorized party shall agree on the approval of the expenses according to their
nature after verifying their validity and that they were completed in conformity with
the regulations of these instructions, and shall hence be signed in the allocated place
on the application prepared for this purpose, in preparation for starting the
procedures of disbursement and the required accounting vouchers.

Article 42:

The department shall organize the disbursement orders and procedures and the required
accounting transactions on the designated applications by referring to the expense
approval memorandum that shall be prepared in conformity with regulations.
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Article 43:

A. Accounting transactions shall be prepared in light of the Unit’s accounting manual
and supported by the necessary documents that are issued by the Unit to settle its
financial obligations.

B. The Back-Office Support Section shall prepare accounting transaction vouchers, and
the accounting section shall post them to the relevant accounts. An employee shall
prepare the accounting transactions and another shall audit them in conformity with
regulations.

C. Transaction vouchers shall be approved by the manager of the department in the
Unit.

Article 44:

All accounting transactions and financial statements shall be signed by at least two
authorized people, one of whom is classified category A.

Article 45:

A. Disbursement of any expense whether of revenue, investments or capital nature shall
be prohibited unless it has allocations earmarked in the estimated budget and after
the completion of the disbursement procedures outlined in these instructions or the
disbursement decisions issued by the Manager. All disbursement transactions shall
be subject to prior approval in accordance with the authorities specified in the these
instructions.

B. No single expenditure may be segmented under any circumstances and for any
reason whatsoever. No expenditure shall be authorized unless it is approved in
conformity with regulations.

Article 46:

The party incurring the expense shall prepare the obligation voucher either in the form of
an application for assigning employees, or an application for requesting material or
providing services or in the form of a letter addressed to the Manager, or any other
approved application. This voucher shall be referred to the financial controller for
notification that sufficient allocations are available or, in the case of insufficient funds,
that a prior approval of the Board or Commission exists for incurring the expense
(approving or authorizing the expense).
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Article 47:

Payability, receipt and disbursement transactions shall be subject to audit after the
transaction is done by the internal auditor who shall be responsible for verifying the
correctness and integrity of documents, advices, supporting documents and accounting
allocations as well as correct accounting and mathematical operations.

Article 48:
Salaries and monthly allowances shall be disbursed three days prior to the end of subject

month and could be disbursed prior to that when necessary with a decision by the
Chairman based on the Manager’s recommendation.

Chapter Seven

The Estimated Budget

Article 49:

The estimated budget is the Unit’s tool for proper financial planning and for achieving
financial control. The Manager, department managers and the Unit’s employees shall be
responsible for implementing the budget’s stages firsthand. Each department of the Unit
shall abide by the instructions and decisions pertaining to it.

Article 50:

Upon the recommendation of the department manager, the Manager shall issue
instructions for preparing the estimated budget for the following year, outlining its stages,
the timetable set for the implementation of each stage, and setting the deadline for
completing the draft estimated budget in preparation for submitting it to the financial
committee for review and recommendations to the Commission.

Article 51:

The Unit’s budget is prepared on an annual basis, taking into consideration that articles
related to revenue expenditure be distributed over the months of the year.

Article 52:

Operations of assigning allocations in the estimated budget shall be subject to the
instructions of the Commission in this regard as follows:

A. The Commission is entitled to transfer allocations from one capital expenditure to
another.

AMIR Program 20



Administrative and Financial Instructions for the SSIC Final Report

B. The Chairman shall be entitled to transfer allocations from one current expenditure
to another, or to a capital expenditure.

C. No allocation for a capital expenditure shall be transferred to cover a current
expenditure.

D. Any other transfer operations within the estimated budget shall be presented to the
Commission for approval.

Article 53:

The first stage of preparing the estimates for the estimated budget shall begin on the first
day of October of every year. Upon the Manager’s instruction, commencing the
implementation of the estimated budget starts at the beginning of January of every year,
following the Commission’s endorsement.

Article 54:

No expenditure may be obligated if it is not stated in the estimated budget or if it exceeds
the earmarked allocations. In addition, these allocations shall not be used for purposes
other than what they were allocated for. In the event of the above mentioned cases, and
only in matters of urgency, the Commission shall be referred to for a decision on this
issue with a written recommendation from the Manager stating the reasons to that effect.

Article 55:
Disbursement from the estimated budget shall commence following its endorsement by
the Commission. If the budget was not endorsed, the Chairman shall be entitled to order

the spending by a ratio of 1/12 of the budget of the previous year until such endorsement
is attained for the estimated budget.

Chapter Eight

Financial Authority

Article 56:

Financial authority is the financial limitations specified by these instructions or by the
Commission’s decisions for the various levels of management for the purpose of
organizing the disbursement. Financial authority is used in accordance with the
Commission’s objectives, policies and requirements whether in relation to employees,
purchases, services or other disbursement items stated in these instructions (whether they
are revenue, investments or capital related) and are expressed in Jordanian Dinars.
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Article 57:

When an authority of a certain level is attained, disbursement vouchers shall be presented
to the higher level, and in the absence of the authorized person, his deputy or whoever is
authorized in writing, shall assume the responsibility.

Article 58:

Financial authority shall be divided into three transitory levels, each level beginning
when the previous level is completed. These levels are:

A. The authority to commit; this is related to the approval and commitment of the
expenditure.

B. The authority to contract; this is related to contractual commitment with other parties
as a result of initiating the expenditure.

C. The authority to disburse; this is related to financial settlement and reconciliation
resulting from contracting and commitment.

Article 59:
The authority to commit:

The Chairman, or who is authorized in writing by him, shall handle, in writing, the
approval of requests for committing the expenditure (approving and authorizing the
expenditure) in line with the recommendation of the initiating party, provided it is audited
and authorized by the internal auditor, taking into consideration the supervisory hierarchy
and the authorities stated in these instructions.

Article 60:
The authority to contract:

A. Authority to select employees, whether permanent, temporary or on contract basis,
shall be subject to the personnel codes applicable.

B. Authority to purchase, awarding tenders and projects and signing relevant
agreements shall be subject to the Commission’s decisions and to the instructions
regarding supplies and purchases, be they related to materials, work supplies, means
of transportation, or services.
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C. Revenue, investments or capital expenditures shall be subject to decisions made by
the Commission, the Chairman and the Manager in light of what was stated in the
estimated budget, the applied investment strategy and policies and these instructions,
as well as the codes for approving expenses set by the Board.

D. The Manager shall be entitled to disburse amounts set for payment in accordance
with contracts and agreements signed with other parties, as well as amounts resulting
from the implementation of laws, regulations, codes, official instructions and
compliance contracts issued by government and non-government parties. The
Commission shall be obligated to disburse amounts by rule of law or rule of
contract, whatever the value, except for amounts subject to negotiations, in which
case the Commission shall be referred to for a decision.

Article 61:

Authority of Signatures

The department shall disburse the Chairman’s remunerations and the salaries of the
Manager and the employees as well as allowances, remunerations and all other privileges.
The department shall also disburse the cost of materials, supplies, various services and
any other expenses or obligations, payables, or disbursements upon maturity in
accordance with these instructions and with the authorities of the management levels
authorized to sign on these transactions by the Chairman, the Manager or department
managers. No sum of money shall be disbursed except in accordance with a financial
transaction request or financial order signed by at least two authorized people.

Article 62:

Financial transactions, whether checks or payment orders from authorized signatories
shall be signed as follows:

A. All financial transactions amounting to JD15000 (fifteen thousand) or more shall
carry three authorized signatures as follows:

- The Chairman or his deputy.
- The Manager or the person authorized to do his work.
- One of the authorized signatories of Category A.

B. All transactions amounting to JD5000 (five thousand) or more and less than
JD15000 (fifteen thousand) shall carry three authorized signatures as follows:

- The Manager or the person authorized to do his work.
- The signatures of two of the authorized signatories of Category A.
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C. All transactions amounting to JD1000 (one thousand) or more and less than JD5000
(five thousand) shall carry three authorized signatures as follows:

- The Manager or the person authorized to do his work.
One of the authorized signatory of Category A.
- One of the authorized signatory of Category B.

D. All transactions of less than JD1000 (one thousand) shall carry two authorized
signatures as follows:

One of the authorized signatory of Category A.
- One of the authorized signatories of Category B.

E. An authorized signatory of a higher category shall be entitled to sign on financial
transactions in the stead of a lower category.

F. The Commission shall issue, with the recommendation of the Manager, a list of
authorized signatories in the Unit, the A/B category of each signatures for all
financial transaction. Banks, with which the Unit deals, shall be provided with a
copy of this list with certified samples of the authorized signatures.

G. The Manager shall have the right to authorize the department manager in writing
with disbursement from the petty-cash, in accordance with a signed permission of
disbursement in conformity with regulations, in order to pay for emergency
miscellaneous expenses, in accordance with the disbursement instructions issued
with regard to the petty-cash.

Chapter Nine

Cash Advances

Article 63:
The following cash advances shall be disbursed within the limits set for each:
1. Permanent advances:

A. The Chairman’s approval on disbursing the permanent advances shall be
acquired with the recommendation of the Manager upon the request of the
concerned department or section. The advance is to be within the sums of
money as outlined by the disbursement instructions set according to these
instructions.
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The permanent advance shall be disbursed to cover recurrent petty-cash
expenses, within small sums of money as outlined by the disbursement
instructions set according to these instructions. These advances shall be
replenished by presenting original disbursement vouchers and invoices that
support the department’s disbursement operations. The department shall
replenish amounts equivalent to the value of these vouchers.

The permanent advance shall be handed over to the employee in charge, and
shall be considered a trust in his custody. He shall supervise its disbursement
and prepare statements to that effect. The employee shall be insured against
mistrust, and the amount of the advance shall be insured against theft, fire, or
loss for any reason. This advance shall be repaid on the last day of the financial
year into the Unit’s accounts in one of the banks.

2. Advances for specific purposes:

A.

Advances for specific purposes shall be provided to cover a certain activity or
task and shall be terminated as soon as that task is completed.

This advance shall be settled after the completion of the task for which it was
provided, and shall be closed and reconciled immediately.

The Chairman, or whoever he authorizes in writing, shall be the only authorized
person to approve the specific-purpose advance, and this shall be done by a
request from the concerned department or section with the recommendation of
the Manager upon the concerned manager’s request.

3. Advances for local purchases:

A.

Advances for local purchases shall be disbursed with the approval of the
Manager to purchase certain materials from the local market, as long as the
value of these materials are specified in accordance with Articles 61 and 62 of
these instructions.

Advances for purchases shall be settled immediately after the arrival of the
merchandize and the completion of the vouchers that support the purchase
operation, which includes the obligation voucher (request for material),
purchase recommendation, purchase order, the beneficiary’s invoice and the
receiver’s receipt or the certificate of completion of work or completion of
services.

If the agreements with local importers or contractors include the provision of
advances towards imports or services they will be performing for the Unit, these
advances shall be disbursed at the beginning of the implementation of these
agreements and in accordance with conditions stated in the agreements.
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The Chairman shall have the right to disburse advances to local importers or
contractors in special and justified cases upon the recommendation of the
Manager, as long as the advances are covered by an unconditional and upon
request bank guarantee for the same value of the advance. The Chairman shall
also inform the Commission regarding the advances.

4. Advances for contractors and/or suppliers:

A.

If agreements or purchase orders with contractors and/or suppliers include the
provision of advances from them at the expense of contracts and imports they
will be performing for the Unit, these advances shall be disbursed to them at the
beginning of the implementation of the agreement and in accordance with
conditions stated in those agreements.

If the agreement or purchase order does not include the provision of advances to
contractors and/or suppliers and the contractor and/or suppliers’ requests an
advance at the expense of the project or purchase order, the Chairman, if
convinced of the contractor and/or supplier’s request, shall be entitled to grant
the advance on condition that it does not exceed 10 % of the value of the project
or the purchase order.

Advances to contractors and/or suppliers are paid in accordance with conditions
stated in the agreements and the purchase orders. In case the agreement and
purchase order overlooks these conditions, the advance shall be paid from the
value of the invoices submitted to the Unit at the same percentages with which
the advances were awarded.

As a condition, the contractor or the supplier shall present a bank guarantee to
cover the value of the advances throughout the contract implementation period.
This guarantee shall be reduced gradually to correspond with payments of
advances.

5. Advances to employees:

Advances shall be subject to the Commission’s decisions and the instructions issued
in accordance with personnel codes.
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Chapter Ten

Deposits

Article 64:

Deposits are amounts of money payable to various parties that represent balances of non-
active accounts for employees or debtors, or checks that were not cashed within six
months of issue, and similar matters. Deposits also represent sums of money payable to
certain parties that have been seized from balances payable to other parties in
implementation of valid laws and regulations or agreements or in compliance with court
orders or departments of implementation or any other party with executive authority.

Article 65:

Deposits shall be handled with extreme caution and care and shall only be disbursed to its
rightful owner after verifying their personal identification cards or in accordance with
certified official powers of attorney or by transferring them to their accounts in licensed
banks. Cashed checks shall be stamped with the phrase: (to be cashed by the primary
beneficiary only).

Article 66:

The department shall maintain statistical records corresponding to the deposits in the
relevant section. Accounting records shall be recorded in conformity with regulations in
accounting registers. No deposit shall be disbursed except after the concerned employee
and the head of his section notarize the record specific to the deposit, and shall hence be
signed by the internal auditor to validate it.

Article 67:

The department in the Unit shall keep the deposits in its records for fifteen full years.
Two months prior to the end of this period, the Unit shall announce these deposits in the
local newspapers to encourage their owners to claim them before they forfeit their right
due to the statute of limitations.

Article 68:
Four months after the announcement, the department shall transfer the value of the

unclaimed deposits to the Ministry of Finance in line with the valid Law of Government
requisition of finances that have exceeded the statute of limitations valid to date.
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Chapter Eleven

Cash Deposits

Article 69:

Cash deposits shall be paid to parties that request them to guarantee the completion of a
certain commitment, in accordance with the laws, regulations, codes, instructions, and
valid contracts. These deposits shall be subject to the authorities stated in these
instructions or outlined in decisions issued by the Commission, the Chairman and the
Manager. They shall be entered in the records and revealed in the financial data. They
include the following:

Bank Deposits: paid to banks upon the issue of letters of credit or upon endorsement of
merchandise in transit. Deposit amounts shall be retrieved upon settlement of shipping
documents.

Short-term Deposits: paid to perform a temporary obligation and ends with the
completion of the obligation, such as custom deposits that are paid to the customs
department in return for providing it with original documents of the imported
merchandise, and are retrieved when the Unit performs the required obligation.

Long-term Deposits: paid to guarantee the performance of a fixed, continuous obligation
and shall be retrieved once the objective for which the deposit was paid is completed.
These deposits are connected with permanent services related to the Unit’s work, and
shall not end except with the completion of this work, such as deposits for electricity,
water, telephone, telex and the facsimile.

Chapter Twelve

Writing Off Debts

Article 70:

A. No debt shall be written off until the Unit has exhausted all means possible to collect
its value.

B. The department manager shall recommend to the Manager to write off the debts that
can no longer be collected, because of the lack of transferable or non transferable
assets that can be acted upon, or after the debt has exceeded the statute of
limitations, or due to the departure, bankruptcy of the debtor, or his death and the
unavailability of an inheritance, or his residence abroad and the impossibility of
finding out his address for a long time and the unavailability of funds for him in the
country, or any other reason that is convincing to the department, the legal counselor
and the internal auditor.
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C. Writing off debts shall be endorsed within the following financial authorities:

1. The Manager shall approve the writing off of debts that are less than JD1000
(one thousand), upon the recommendation of the department manager. The
financial committee shall be informed of this matter.

2. The Commission shall approve the writing off of debts that are JD1000 (one

thousand) or more, upon the financial committee’s recommendation which is in
turn issued upon the recommendation of the Manager.

Chapter Thirteen

Financial Guarantees

Article 71:

Financial guarantees shall be provided to the Unit by others, either in the form of pledges,
bank guarantees, certified checks, pecuniary or in kind deposits, to guarantee the
performance of specific obligations, in accordance with valid laws and regulations or in
line with agreements, contracts, tenders, credit facilities, and others. Department
managers shall receive and maintain them, classifying them according to maturity dates,
and shall deposit them in safes and log and enter them in accordance with statutory
vouchers and follow up on them with departments of concern in the Unit and provide the
Manager with quarterly reports about their status.

Article 72:

The Unit shall commit to provide financial guarantees required by prevailing laws and
regulations. The department manager shall adopt the necessary procedures to issue them
within the authorities specified in these instructions.

Article 73:

Financial guarantees submitted to the Unit shall meet the following conditions:

A. The guarantee shall be issued or supported by an operating bank in the Kingdom
acceptable to the Unit.

B. The guarantee shall be unconditional and irrevocable, and not contingent upon any
activity or event, unless otherwise stipulated by its contract.

C. The guarantee shall be sufficient to cover the obligation to be performed.
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D. The wording of the guarantee shall be in agreement with the wording specified by
the Unit and shall directly cover the purpose for which it was issued.

E. The term of the guarantee shall be sufficient to cover the obligation to be performed.
Article 74:

In the event that the guaranteed party fails to implement the required obligation, the Unit
shall seize the value of the guarantee or any part of it, in accordance with the
recommendation of the concerned party in the Unit and with the approval of the
authorized party, in a manner that covers the value of the unimplemented obligation.

Article 75:

The guarantee shall be extended upon the recommendation of the concerned party for
another term or a specific period of time. In the event that the guaranteed party fails to
respond to the request for extension, the guarantee shall be seized. Guarantees provided
to enter bids shall be excluded from this, when the wish to extend shall be left to the
bidder after the termination of the validity period of the offer for bid, unless the
guarantee’s validity period is less than the validity of the offer, in which case an
extension shall be requested to be in line with the validity of the offer.

Article 76:

The bank guarantee shall be returned to the issuing or confirming party upon the written
request of the concerned manager and the department manager, and in accordance with a
letter addressed to the Manager informing him that the party guaranteed has fulfilled its
obligations in full, and that there is no objection to returning the guarantee unless it is
seized for other reasons. The guarantee provided to enter a bid shall not be paid back to
the party that won the bid until it presents a valid successful implementation guarantee.

Article 77:

The Manager shall present to the financial committee the statements and financial reports
listed below, covering the periods specified for each and stated next to each, in
accordance with the valid laws and regulations, or the Unit’s rules and instructions, or
upon the request of the Commission, to be reviewed, endorsed and submitted to the
Commission with its recommendations if need be:

A. A report on the progress and implementation of the estimated budget at the end of
every three months covering the periods ending in March, June, October and
December, in a detailed or summary format, according to the instructions and
decisions of the Commission or the Manager, showing actual and estimated
numbers, variations, deviations if any and their reasons.
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B. A statement of financial position and status of operations in line with applied
accounting policies, reviewed by the external and internal auditors and endorsed by
the Manager, the department manager, along with a financial analysis of it.

C. The annual balance sheet, statement of financial results and cash flows prepared
according to recognized financial principles, including notes to financial statements,
compared to previous year accounts, audited by the Unit’s certified external
auditors. Such reports shall be prepared within a period of three months from year-
end.

D. Any financial, accounting or statistical estimates to be prepared on a quarterly or

annual basis, in accordance with specific regulations or decisions by the Commission
or any of its various committees, or the Manager.

Chapter Fourteen

Financial Control

Article 78:

The Manager and department manager shall be responsible for the Unit’s accounts, its
financial transactions, monitoring the implementation of rules of these instructions, and
ensuring the implementation of requirements for control tools that are necessary to
safeguard the Unit’s accounts, transactions, rights and property. The department shall
handle all procedures and precautions to safeguard the Unit’s finances and safety.

Article 79:

The financial controller shall be responsible for using the proper tools of control over
resources of financing and methods of using them, and shall submit periodic reports
about them to the Manager.

Article 80:

The financial controller and the internal auditor shall be responsible for the proper
performance of tasks assigned to them in accordance with the rules, regulations and
decisions related to the tasks.

Article 81:

The Commission shall, at the beginning of every financial year, appoint a certified
auditor to the Unit to study and examine the financial position, the final accounts, and the
statement of cash flows. The auditor’s fees shall be determined by a decision from the
Commission.
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Article 82:

A. The internal auditor shall conduct a preliminary audit of all expenses and
disbursement orders issued, and shall audit revenues and verify that financial
statements, the data and accounting reports reflect the true position of the Unit, and
that its executive departments have not exceeded the allocations earmarked in the
estimated budget.

B. The preliminary audit of expenses that do not exceed JD1000 (one thousand) and
other expenses stipulated and specified by the Manager in his directives shall be
excluded from this.

Article 83:

Financial, accounting and administrative operations in the Unit shall be subject to audit
by the internal and external auditors in order to verify and determine that these operations
have fulfilled all their conditions before they are endorsed and entered in the records or
disbursed and cashed from the cashier.

Article 84:

The internal auditor shall audit the financial, accounting and administrative operations.
This shall include all the departments and sections of the Unit in light of an auditing
program that is prepared at the beginning of every year and that is approved by the
Chairman. The auditor shall verify the integrity and accuracy of the implementation of
laws, regulations and instructions.

Article 85:

A. The Manager shall form inventory committees during the month of December of
every year, with the participation of the financial controller and the internal auditor,
to conduct an inventory count of the Unit’s assets. These committees shall perform
the duties assigned by the Manager and stated in the decision to form: it.

B. Inventory committees shall submit their reports to the Manager at a date no later than
three weeks from the date of their formation.
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Chapter Fifteen

General Provisions

Article 86:

The sale or write-off of supplies or materials shall be carried out in accordance with rules
stated in the instructions regarding supplies and purchases that are set by the
Commission.

Article 87:

Any change, amendment, omission, erasing or addition of any form, to any accounts,
vouchers or financial records in the Unit is prohibited. In the event of a mistake, the
necessary correction shall be made in accordance with proper accounting entries, or by
crossing out the incorrect data in red and writing the correct data in blue, along with the
signature of the employee who made the correction, and the signatures of the concerned
department manager and at least one of the authorized signatories of Category B next to
the corrections made.

Article 88:
Discrepancy in trusts, embezzlement cases, fraudulent action and forgery:

A. In case of embezzlement, discrepancy, loss of the Unit’s funds, or if fraudulent
action or forgery of vouchers, records or other documents takes place, the employee
concerned shall, through his department manager, inform the Manager immediately
in order to adopt the necessary measures and form investigative committees to
protect the Unit’s rights.

B. If the discrepancy or loss is proved to be the result of negligence or slackness, the
employee concerned shall be fined with the amount of the discrepancy, charging the
amount on his account, and a mechanism shall be set to retrieve the lost amount from
the employee’s salary, savings or compensation. Punitive measures that correspond
with the level of negligence shall be adopted.

C. The insurance company accredited to the Unit shall be informed of incidences of
embezzlement, fraudulent actions and forgery that are perpetrated by employees who
have insurance against mistrust. The employee concerned shall also be claimed for
the discrepancy until a decisive decision is reached on the issue.

D. If responsibility for the discrepancy could not be determined and the discrepancy
could not be retrieved from the insurance company accredited to the Unit, the
discrepancy shall be written-off by a decision from the Commission with the
recommendation of the Manager.
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Article 89:

The Unit’s donations, whether pecuniary or in kind, shall be subject to the specific
instructions set by the Commission where conditions and authority to donate are outlined.

Article 90:

Grants provided to the Unit by others shall be considered a source of revenue and shall be
used for the purposes and objectives for which they were granted.

Article 91:

Amendments to the provisions of these instructions, and resolving cases that have no
mention in these instructions shall be done by a Board decision, and the Board shall be
entitled to deputize the Chairman with this assignment.

Article 92:

The Chairman shall issue the necessary decisions to implement the provisions of these
instructions.

Effective asof / /2002
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Investment Unit Management

At the Social Security Corporation
Established upon the By-law No. (111) for 2001
Issued upon the provisions of Article (76) of the Social Security Law
No. (19) for 2001
Personnel Instructions

Issued upon the Provisions of Article (14) of the Investing the Corporation’s Funds
By-law No. (111) for 2001

Upon a resolution by the Corporation Board of Directors No. ()
In session No. ( ) held on ...... [eveuas /2002
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Personnel Instructions
For the Investment Unit

at the Social Security Corporation upon the provisions of Article (14) of the Investing the
Corporation Funds By-law No. (111) for 2001 and upon the resolution of the Board
No. () in their session No. ( Yheldon ...... [oc.... /2002.

Chapter One

Article (1)

These instructions shall be called the Personnel Instructions at the Investment Unit of the
Social Security Corporation. Its provisions shall be applied to the Chairman, the Manager
and the employees of the Unit of all classes and grades. They shall also be applied to
employees upon contracts and shall be entered into force as of the date of being approved

by the Board.
Definitions

Article (2)

Wherever they should occur, the following words and expressions shall have the
meanings designated hereunder unless otherwise connoted by the context:

Corporation

The Social Security Corporation

Board

The Corporation’s Board of Directors

The Commission

The Unit’s Management Commission that was formulated in
accordance with Article 7 of Regulation number 111 for the year
2001

The Unit The apparatus responsible for managing the investment of the
Corporation’s funds

The Chairman The Commission’s Chairman

The Manager The Unit’s Executive Manager

Instructions Personnel Instructions of the Unit

Committee Committee of Human Resources formed upon the provisions of

these instructions

Job Description

Duties and responsibilities of the job and the minimum
qualifications and experience requirements to fill it.

Personnel

Group of jobs and classes at the Unit

Medical Reference

Doctor or doctors who are accredited by the Unit for medical
purposes

Employee Each person hired in any of the personnel jobs or against a contract
and upon a resolution by the specialized reference upon the
recommendation of the specialized committee.

Class Group of jobs of certain classes and salaries upon these
instructions.

Salary The basic monthly salary which the employee takes upon the
provisions of these instructions.
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Total Salary

The salary subject to deductions according to the provisions of the
valid Social Security Law.

Scholarship

To delegate the employee for study and training to get an academic
degree from an accredited academic or training institution. This
delegation is for a continuous period of time that exceeds eight
months whether inside or outside the Kingdom.

Course

To delegate the employee for study and training for a continuous
period; not less than one month and not more than eight months.
This delegation is required to help the employee get academic
knowledge or practical skill, or both, whether inside the Kingdom
or abroad.

Assignment

To delegate the employee for a continuous period that does not
exceed one month on an official or academic assignment or to
attend a conference, seminar, symposium, an academic meeting, a
visit, or exploration trip or some similar event whether the
assignment should be inside or outside the Kingdom.

Delegate

The employee delegated in a scholarship, course or assignment
according to the provisions of these instructions.

Chapter Two

Article (3)

The Unit Personnel

Employees at the Unit are:

a_

d-

Employees in classes: these are the employees who are recruited in the personnel
classes, from Class One to Class Four, to implement the specialized
administrative, clerical, technical, and accounting jobs.

Employees at the fifth class: those who are recruited to implement jobs not
covered in Paragraph (a) of this Article. These include office boys, guards,
operators, drivers, cleanliness workers, maintenance technicians or any other
similar job.

Employees upon contracts: These are the ones recruited and their employment
conditions are stipulated upon contracts, the provisions and conditions of which
are set by the specialized reference at the Unit.

Employees for daily wages: These are the ones recruited upon a resolution by the
specialized reference for daily wages.

Article (4)

a-

The provisions of these instructions shall be applied to each employee assigned
in any of the jobs at the Unit and receives salary from the Unit budget.
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b- Employees against contracts shall be subject to the employment conditions set in
the employment contracts. They shall also be subject to the provisions in these
instructions in terms of all the points not stipulated in their employment contracts
and to the extent that shall not contradict with the explicit texts in those
contracts.

c- The provisions of the valid Labor Law shall be applied to the employees for
daily wages.

d- The provisions of the valid Civil Status By-law shall be applied to the employees
at the Unit in cases not stipulated in these instructions. The Commission shall
practice powers of the Cabinet and the Prime Minister. The Chairman, however,
shall practice the powers of the specialized minister, and the Manager shall
practice the powers of the Secretary General.

Article (5)

a- The permanent job grades at the Unit shall comprise fifteen grades. Their basic
salaries and the highest grade as follows:

Class Grades | Lowest salary/ | Highest salary/
Dinar Dinar

First 15 1000 1600

14 870 1400

13 755 1200

Second 12 655 1040

11 545 870

10 475 670

9 415 660

Third 8 345 550

7 300 480

6 260 410

5 225 355

Fourth 4 190 300

3 165 260

2 140 230

1 120 200
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b- The fifth class of employees shall comprise the following jobs and their salaries:

Class Job Lowest Highest Salary/
Salary/ Dinar Dinar
Fifth | Technician (a) 125 330

Bus Driver 100 300
Technician (b) 75 260
Car Driver 75 260
Motorcycle Driver 72 225
Operator, Gardner, 62 220
Guard, Office Boy,
Cook, Waiter,
Cleaning worker

c- Upon the recommendation of the Manager, the Board shall decide the following at the
beginning of each year:

1-
2-
3.

A list of job formation and formations in the first to the fourth class.

Names and number of jobs in the fifth class.

Requirements of promotion from one grade to a higher grade in the first to the
fourth classes and from one job to another in the fifth grade.

d- Employees against Contracts:

1-

These are the ones recruited upon contracts in jobs set on the list of job
formation at the Unit. They can also be recruited to assume specialized jobs that
require high qualifications and distinguished experiences or both as needed by
the Unit and it was not possible to define the salary for such jobs according to
the provisions of these instructions. Conditions stipulated in the employment
contracts shall apply to these people including the definition of their salaries,
remuneration and annual raises...etc.

The employee against a contract shall be treated as the permanent employee
according to the grade he’s entitled to if he were in a permanent job according
to his basic salary and in terms of what is not stipulated in the employment
contract.

The Manager may recruit people to work at the Unit for daily wages. The valid
Law of Labor shall apply to these people.

Atrticle (6):

A job raise shall be set for each class and each grade as a percentage of the salaries
stipulated in Paragraphs (a) and (b) of Article (5) on this List as follows:
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Grade/Class Job Raise
12-15 85%
9-11 75%
5-8 65%
1-4 50%
Fifth class 40%

Human Resources’ Committee

Article (7)

Upon a resolution by the Commission, a committee shall be formed at the Unit called
“the Human Resources’ Committee” with the Manager of the Administrative and
Financial Unit as the Chairman and the membership of senior officials at the Unit. The
Manager of the competent department shall join this Unit when discussing affairs of
employees under operating under him. The Committee shall submit recommendations to
the Manager in relation with the following issues:

1- Recruitment of employees as well as their promotion, salary amendment, service
termination, disciplinary procedures, and their nomination to scientific scholarships
and training courses.

2- Any power designated thereto upon the provisions of these instructions.

3- Cases related to human resources as handled in these instructions.

4- Any other subjects related to human resources referred thereto by the Manager. These
shall include the preparation of the table of job classification at the Unit. This
classification table includes names of jobs in each grade according to the job
description and showing the number of positions at each job. The table shall be
submitted to the Commission for approval.

5- Head of the personnel section shall be the secretary of this committee.

6- The Committee meeting shall be legal when attended by three of the Committee
members with its chairman or the person acting therefor be one of them. The

Committee shall conclude recommendations either by consensus or upon majority.

Recruitment (assignment) of Emplovees

Article (8):

a- The job applications shall be submitted using the form set for this purpose by the
Unit.
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b- The applicant to any vacancy at the Unit must:

- Be a Jordanian national

- Be eighteen years old.

- Free from diseases, physical disabilities, mental problems that prevent him from
doing the job or that may cause harm to the public safety to the employees of the
Unit. This is to be proved by a resolution issued by a medical reference. The
competent reference shall have the right in special cases to assign people who are
not of full physical capacity. However, this assignment must be against a
recommendation by a medical reference to prove that their health status does not
prevent them from doing the jobs assigned thereto and that this status does not
contradict with public safety.

- Be of a good reputation and conduct enjoying all civil rights and not judged with
a misdemeanor or a felony.

- Have certificates and experiences that qualify him to occupy the job he has
applied for according to the provisions of these instructions or any amendment
introduced thereto.

- Pass the examination done by the Committee for recruitment purposes.

Article (9)

Assignment cannot be implemented at the Unit unless there is a vacancy. Assignment
cannot take place upon a back date effect. Assignment of the employee at the Unit shall
be valid as from the date of his assuming work thereat:

Article (10)

a- Employees are assigned at any of the grades of the first class upon a resolution by the
Commission upon the Manager’s recommendation based on the Committee’s
recommendation.

b- The other employees shall be assigned upon a resolution by the Manager based on the
Committee recommendation.

c- The assignment of employees against a contract shall be as follows:

1-

Upon a resolution by the Commission based on the Manager’s recommendation
based on a recommendation by the Committee if his total salary is equal to or
exceeds the salary set for the employees of the first class.

Upon a resolution by the Manager based on the Committee’s recommendation if
the total salary is less than what is stipulated in Clause (1) of this Article.
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Article (11)

The certificate of birth issued by the Civil Status Department and submitted at
recruitment shall be used to define the age of the employee and in case this certificate is
not found, the record certificate issued by the Civil Status Department shall be adopted.

Article (12):

a- The scientific certificates submitted to fill in the vacancy and issued by an institute,
college or university must be accredited in the Kingdom. The Unit shall have the right
to validate the truth of any certificate submitted thereto as well as verifying the
compliance of such certificate with the provisions of this Article. The Unit shall also
have the right to request an original copy of any certificate.

b- The certificates for the purposes of these instructions shall be accredited by the
competent concerned official parties.

Article (13):

a- At assignment, the competence, technical competence, scientific certificates, work
experience and the vacancy status shall all be observed in order to set the basic salary
according to the following:

1- Holders of General Secondary Study Examination certificates or its equivalence
or graduates of institutes shall be assigned at the first, second, third or fourth
grade.

2- Holders of the BA certificates shall be assigned at the fourth, fifth or sixth grade.

3- Holders of MA shall be assigned at the sixth, seventh or eighth grade.

4- Holders of Ph.D. shall be assigned at the ninth or tenth grade.

b- At assignment of employee in the fifth grade, certain issues must be observed
including the vacancy availability, literacy competence and to be at least a third
preparatory class graduate.’

Article (14):

Assignment cannot take place in any of the 13, 14, 15 grades unless the person holds an
MA at least. This applies to promotion to one of these grades also

! Kindly note that no more the Educational system has a third preparatory class. It must be now the
ninth grade.
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Article (15):

a-

When defining the grade where the person is assigned at any job, the years of
experience he has spent in service at any party, governmental or civil agency, or
others shall be observed if they are in line with the requirements of the job to be
filled. These qualifications are usually obtained after the academic degree against
which he is assigned.

Years of experience which are in line with the job qualifications, whether inside or
outside the Kingdom; in the public or the private sector, shall be calculated in light of
competence, technical, scientific and work capacity of the employee and according to
the vacancy. To this effect, the latest academic qualification or the experience
following any previous academic qualification shall be considered depending on
which is better for the interest of the employee to be assigned.

The work experience provided with the job application shall be considered on
condition that credentials are submitted prior to the issuance of the assignment
resolution. Experience not mentioned in the application will not be considered.

Article (16):

a-

The employee assigned for the first time at the Unit shall be under a one-year
probation period. The competent reference must issue the resolution to fix the
employee in his job or to terminate his service at the end of the probation period. In
case the employee is fixed in the job, the probation period shall be calculated as a
real service for the employee. The authorized reference, however, shall have the
right to terminate the employee service before the end of the probation period and
with no need to explain reasons for that.

Upon a resolution by the authorized reference, it shall be possible to terminate the
service of the employee due to incompetence or due to misbehavior during the
probation period. In this case, the employee cannot claim any indemnity and cannot
be assigned again.

If the employee who has not completed the probation period is re-assigned to the job,
he will be put again under the probation period and will be viewed as a new
employee. Every body who has spent more than three years outside the Unit shall be
put under probation. The real service period for him shall be calculated as from the
date of reassigning him.

The employees are fixed in their jobs, or service of the non-fixed is terminated
according to the reports received in relation therewith from their direct bosses and in
light of the Unit’s need therefor.
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e- In order to enforce the provisions of this Article, the period when the employee was
stopped from work shall not be calculated within the probation period.

Article (17):

a- The employee shall be committed to the following:

1-

Do tasks assigned thereto to the full competence, honesty and viability during
office hours or on holidays and official Days if necessary for work.

Observe timetables of work and designate the office hours to do duties of the job
to best he can.

Implement orders and instructions of his bosses and observe the supervising job
hierarchy in terms of job communications.

Apply laws, by-laws, regulations and resolutions related to his work. He must not
violate the same.

Contribute to the development of work given to him and submit any proposals to
increase his job level.

Inform his bosses of any violation, negligence, manipulation, or procedure that
may harm the interest of the Unit. He must also inform them of any violation in
the application of laws, by-laws, and regulations and of any failure, negligence or
inertia of his employees in doing the job. The immediate boss who is informed of
that violation, negligence or manipulation must inform the official in the higher
position immediately.

Act politely and in courtesy with the bosses and people operating under him as
well as with the clients. He must maintain the decency and good reputation of the
job.

Work on developing the partnership trend in administration as well as the
team spirit at work.

Maintain absolute confidentiality in relation with his work at the Unit or in
relation with the work of the Unit in general.

10- Maintain the Unit interest, properties and all assets.

11-Inform his immediate boss in case of any financial disruptions.
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b-

The employee cannot assume his work at the Unit before making the oath of the Unit.

Article (18)

Subject to the disciplinary responsibility, the employee shall be prohibited from doing
any of the following actions:

a-

Abuse his job and powers for a self interest or to serve any party (political party)
objectives or interests or to participate in any demonstration, strike or picket (sit in).

b- Practice trade bargains and direct trade transactions, or brokerage or taking a
commission therefor unless such an action be related to his private property.

c- Run for parliamentary or municipal elections unless after the ending his service at the
Unit.

d- Quit work or stop work without a prior permission by his boss.

e- Disclose any data or information that are kept under regulations, resolutions of
legislation of confidentiality or that must be kept confidential by virtue of their
nature.

f- Distribute any periodical or temporary publication or participate whether directly or
indirectly in managing the same unless it should be published by the Unit.

g- Work as an editor in a periodical or temporary publication or to subscribe whether
directly or indirectly in managing it unless it should be published by the Unit.

h- Abuse his job and powers for a personal interest, a personal profit or to accept gifts,
tips, or grants from any person who has a financial relation or affair with the Unit.

i- Accept any job beyond his official jobs unless upon a prior permit from the Manager
in case of an overtime job at any department and upon a permit from the Chairman or
the person authorized thereby if the job is at any other party.

Chapter Three

Annual Raises, Promotions and Remuneration
Article (19)
a- Upon the recommendation of the Manager, the Commission shall set a percentage of

15% maximum each year from the total salaries of the employees of the past year in
order to increase salaries.
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b- Upon the Manager’s recommendation based on the Committee recommendation, the
Chairman shall decide the required rules to distribute this rate and the amount of the
salary raise due for each employee. The Chairman shall observe the job performance
and the annual appraisal report of the employee and for a percentage of 15%
maximum of his basic salary.

c- This increase shall be disbursed on the first day of January of each year. A relative
increase shall be disbursed to the employee for the period occurring between the date
of his assignment and the thirty first day of December of that year.

Article (20):

a- The bases of competition to fill any vacancy at the Unit shall be defined upon the
regulations of the Commission based on the Manager’s recommendation.

b- If one of the Unit employees has been selected upon competition to fill the vacancy
that is classified in a higher grade, he shall be promoted to the job upon a resolution
by the Chairman based on the Manager’s recommendation according to the
Committee’s recommendation. The promotion raise shall be given according to the
following:

1- A rate of 10% of the minimal salary for his current grade.

2- The raise stipulated in Clause (1) of Paragraph (b) of this Article is given and the
basic salary remains to be less than the minimal level of the salary of the grade to
which the employee will be promoted. Then, the employee will be given the raise
required to have his basic salary reach the minimal level of the salary of the grade
gradually and not exceeding 10% of the basic salary each year.

3- The employee shall be entitled to the promotion raise stipulated in Paragraph (b)
of this Article in addition to the other annual raise he is entitled to.

Article (21)

Albeit of the content of Article (19,20) of these instructions, the basic salary of the
employee cannot exceed the maximum level of the salary of his grade. Moreover, total
raises given to the employee in the one year cannot exceed 15% of his basic salary.

Article (22)

If the applicant to fill in a vacancy at the Unit fulfills the scientific and practical
requirements and enjoys capabilities, skills and experiences that exceed what is proved in
his certificates and experience, the Commission can give him a salary at a higher grade
than that which suits his certificates and experiences. This can be done upon a
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recommendation by the Committee based on the advice of the Manager and according to
the criteria set by the Commission to this effect.

Article (23)

a- The employee shall be promoted to any of the first class grades upon a resolution by
the Commission based on the advice of the Manager according to the Committee’s
recommendation.

b- The employee shall be promoted to the other classes upon a resolution by the
Manager based on the Committee’s advice.

Article (24)

If the employee reaches the highest salary of the grade he occupies and he cannot be
promoted for any reason, he shall be given the annual raise designated for him by the
competent party for ten years maximum.

Appraisal of Employees’ Performance
Article (25):

a- Appraisal of employees’ performance shall be done against annual reports that set the
required estimations for that appraisal according to the provisions of these
instructions. This appraisal shall include the employees’ performance of their jobs
and work duties, their competence and capabilities, accurate production, conduct
during work, their relations with their seniors and people operating under them, and
their relations will employees and other parties with whom the Unit deals.

b- The annual report of the employee’s performance shall be produced in one copy or
more according to the form approved by the Manager for this purpose upon the
recommendation of the Committee. However, the following must be observed:

1- Appraisal of the direct Senior (boss) of the employee must be descriptive.

2- The concerned manager who the direct boss is related with will be appraising the
employee’s performance and shall set his estimations and opinion in this
appraisal.

3- The Manager or this who he shall authorize in written shall set the final report on
the employee’s performance.

4- All the phases of the report shall be in written. The employee cannot review the
same unless his final report that the Manager or this who he shall authorize is
producing is of fair or poor grade.
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Article (26)

a-

Appraisal is done against any of the following grades:

1- Excellent
2- Very good
3- Good
4- Fair
5- Poor

Grades stipulated in Paragraph (a) of this Article shall be set according to the
estimation of the grade of each datum, proceedings and remarks on the employee’s
performance according to the form used for the annual report.

Article (27)

Full accuracy must be observed and only truth should be maintained in recording data,
proceedings and remarks. Performance must be organized and grades set upon a just and
fair basis that is free from personal interests.

Article (28)

a-

The Manager or this who he shall authorize sends a copy of the annual report to the
employee if his report is of a fair or poor grade. The employee shall have the right to
contest (object) within ten days as from the working day following the day when he
has received the report. The employee must clarify the reasons for his objection in
specific and written terms. In case the employee does not object, the necessary
procedures shall be taken to approve of the report within this period.

If the employee shall object to the report, the Manager or this who he shall authorize
must refer the report with the objection to the Committee.

The Committee will have to issue their resolution concerning the contest (objection)
within fifteen days as from being submitted thereto and must make their decision in
this respect according to the information about the employee in the annual report.
Such information, however, can be found in any other records, registers or files in the
Unit and related to the employee in addition to statements of his previous seniors in
relation with his performance during his service.

Article (29)

a_

When the annual reports on any year have become final, the Manager or this who he
shall authorize audits the same in order to take the following procedures and
resolutions in relation therewith:
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1-

If the grade in the annual report for any employee is of a fair or poor grade, the
employee is served a written notice to draw his attention to the aspects of failure
and reasons for that. He shall be requested to avoid the same. Should this recur in
the following year, he shall be served a letter of warning requesting him to
improve the level of his work, production and competence.

If the employee was served a letter of warning in the immediately previous year
as stipulated in Clause (1) of the Paragraph and for the reasons set therein and his
appraisal of the current year is fair or poor, his service at the Unit shall be
terminated upon a resolution by the authorized recruitment party.

Resolutions and procedures stipulated in Clauses (1), (2) herein shall be made
upon a decision by the Manager based on a recommendation by the Committee if
they are of the second, third, fourth or fifth classes. However, if the employee is
of the first class, the resolution shall be made by the Commission upon a
recommendation by the Manager based on the Committee’s recommendation.

Other Benefits and Rights

Article (30)

A bonus salary shall be disbursed to the Chairman, the Manager and all other employees.
This salary shall equal a two month salary in the year based on the total salary. The first
half of the bonus salary shall be paid in June whereas the second half shall be paid at the
end of December each year. Days for which the employee is not entitled for a salary shall
not be calculated in this salary for any reason if the period is more than one month.

Article (31)

a_

1-

For each one working at the Unit, the following family allowance shall be paid:

JD 10 for wife.

2- JD 5 for each child and up to five children.

b- Allowances shall be paid for one wife only.
c- Family allowance shall not be paid in the following cases:

1- The female employee — for her children if their father is alive and is not disabled
from work.

2- For the male employee for his wife who works at any department, corporation, of
official public department operating under the government or a public
shareholding company.
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3- For any of the children of the male employee when they reach the age of eighteen.

4- This allowance shall not be paid if the employee’s work is outside the Kingdom.

Article (32)

In special and emergence cases, the Manager shall have the right to ask the employee to
do overtime hours after the official working hours of the Unit. This shall be in case of the
interest of work and for a bonus of 125% of the total monthly salary. The Manager and
managers of departments shall not be entitled to overtime payment.

Article (33)

a-

The Unit shall be responsible for the expenses of fixing phones and paying
subscription fees; or, to give cellular phone and fix its fees to the Chairman and the
Manager and any other employee that the Chairman shall deem as necessary to have a
phone at home or a cellular to achieve interest of work. This shall be upon regulations
issued by the Commission for this purpose.

The Manager can provide uniform for the fifth class employees according to
regulations issued for this purpose.

The Unit shall provide, on its own expense, a collective insurance policy for its
employees. The policy is a life insurance and personal accident insurance policy. The
amount of the policy shall be five times as the total annual salary for each type of
insurance. This insurance shall be upon regulations issued by the Commission based
on the advice of the Manager.

The Unit shall have the right to five housing loans for its Manager and employees
according to the recommendation of the Manager. However, the bases of the loan; its
amount and all the other relevant matters must be defined in the loan documents.

In the draft budget, the Commission shall set the amount of support for the social
activity committee for those working at the Unit.

Chapter Four

Movement, deputation, mandate and secondment

Article (34)

While observing the requirements of occupying any job, employees of the Unit are
moved from their work place to another work place inside the Kingdom according to the
requirements of work and the Unit interest as follows:
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a-

b-

Any Department Manager shall be moved from his job to another job of the same
level upon a resolution by the Chairman based on the Manager’s advice.

Any other employee at the Unit shall be seconded from one job to another in the same
grade upon a resolution by the Manager based on the advice of the concerned
department manager.

Article (35)

a-

Should a job occupied by any employee of the first grade become vacant or should
the employee who occupies it be absent on a delegation, course, or study leave or a
non-paid leave; or if he’s seconded, another employee from the same department can
be assigned to do the job. If necessary, the employee can be deputized from another
department to do the duties and tasks of that job for one year maximum.

The employee shall be assigned upon a resolution by the Manager. In all cases, the
employee must not be deputized for one job in the same time.

The deputized employee shall assume the tasks and duties of the job that he’s doing
as a deputy in addition to doing the tasks and duties of his original job.

Article (36)

a-

The Chairman shall have the right to ask any person from the Unit or from outside to
do special tasks that help improve and upgrade performance at the Unit. This will be
for a financial reward to be set according to the Manager’s advice.

If the assigned person is one of the employees of the Unit, the tasks he’s asked to do
must not be incorporated within the tasks of his job and its responsibilities; and he
shall not receive an overtime payment for that.

Article (37)

a-

Upon an advice by the Manager and a written approval by the employee who has
spent five real continuous years serving the Unit, the Chairman shall have the right to
second him to work at any ministry, governmental department, or official public
corporation. This secondment must be upon their request for a period or periods not
exceeding, as a total, two years during his service at the Unit.

The seconded employee shall receive his total salary and all his financial rights from
the Unit.
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Article (38)

Upon the Manager’s recommendation, the Commission shall have the right to second the
employee to work at any of the governmental departments and institutions, and local,
regional or international commissions and organizations as well as companies where the
government holds shares and the public institutions upon their request and after the
approval of the employee as per the following requirements:

a-

b-

The employee must have spent three actual years in service at the Unit.

The secondment period must not exceed three years for the one time. The employee
cannot be seconded after that period unless three actual years have passed as from the
date of his secondment end. However, the secondment period must not exceed six
years all over the period of his service at the Unit.

The period that the employee has spent in secondment at the Unit shall be considered
as service at the Unit and shall be calculated for the purposes of the annual raise and
promotion entitlement.

At all the period of secondment, the seconded employee shall not receive from the
Unit any part of his salary and shall not be entitled to leaves for the secondment
period. He shall not have any rights or benefits stipulated in these instructions
including the saving fund and medical treatment.

Upon the end of secondment, the employee shall be returned to the job he used to
occupy or to another adequate job and for a salary that equals the salary he was
entitled to if he was not seconded.

The Manager shall be seconded upon a resolution by the Board based on an advice by
the Commission. The provisions of secondment stipulated herein shall apply to the
Manager in this case.

Chapter Five

Working hours and Leaves

Article (39)

The official working days at the Unit shall be five days a week on condition that the
working hours be forty hours at least per week.
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Article (40)

If the employee has to be absent from work for a legitimate excuse, he must inform his
immediate senior of this within twenty four hours of absence. He must support this
information by filling in the form set for this purpose once he returns back to his work
place.

Article (41)

a- The employee shall be deemed as dismissed from his job upon a resolution by the
party authorized of recruitment in case he is absent from his work with no legitimate
excuse for more than several fifteen days along the one year or for more than seven
days in a row. However, the dismissal resolution must be preceded with a written
notice sent in registered mail after an absence of ten days in the first case and three
days in the second case. Serving the notice to the address of the employee as recorded
in his file shall be considered a sufficient evidence to receiving the notice.

b- The employee will be denied any salaries, raises, or remuneration for the period in
which he is absent from his official job place without a legitimate excuse.

Article (42)
The employee will be entitled to the following leaves:

a- annual leave

b- sick leave

c- emergency leave

d- study leave

e- maternity leave

f- pilgrimage leave

g- non paid leave (without salary or raises)

Article (43)

The employee shall have the right to have the leaves stipulated in Article (42) in these
instructions. However, the interest and particulars of work at the Unit must be observed
when approving of the requested leave.

Article (44)

a- The Chairman, the Manager and the employees at the Unit shall be entitled to their
annual leaves as follows:

1- The Chairman: 30 working days
2- The Manager : 30 working days
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3- Employees of first class: 28 working days
4- Employees of second class: 21 working days
5- Employees of third and fourth classes: 18 working days.

b- The annual leaves cannot be accumulated for any employee at excess of two
successive years.

c- The official holidays, religious days, and week-end days shall not be calculated
among the annual leaves.

Article (45):

a- The annual leave shall be given to the employees of the Unit at once (one time)
according to the interest of the Unit while observing the interest and circumstances of
the employee as much as possible. This must not contradict with the conditions of the
Unit to implement work. In all cases, however, the employee must obtain not less
than half the annual leave at once.

b- The Unit shall pay to the employee whose service ends at the Unit for the annual
leaves that he did not use unless the Unit has decided to give him these leaves at the
end of his service. If the employee has taken leaves that exceed the days he is entitled
to, the money paid for the unused leaves shall be refunded unless the service has
terminated due to death or physical disability.

c- When paying for the leaves stipulated in Paragraph (b) of this Article, it must be
observed that the total accumulated leaves do not exceed what the employee is
entitled to for two years. The employee must not be given any amount for days
exceeding this period.

d- The Unit shall have the right to call the employee from his ordinary leave before it is
over if this shall be in favor of the work interest. The Manager shall have the right to
compensate the employee for the reasonable expenses he has incurred due to that
request.

e- While observing Paragraphs (b) and (c), the employee who was denied the leave he’s
entitled to due to the conditions of work cannot request to be paid for it before the end
of his service at the Unit.

Article (46)

The employee shall be entitled to the annual leave stipulated in these instructions as from
the first day of January of each year unless he was recruited during the year. Then, he
shall be entitled to the leave of that year for the period occurring between the date of his
recruitment to the first day of January of the next year. The employee shall be given the
leave upon a decision by the Manager or this who he shall assign for the purpose and
according to the nature of work.
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Article (47)

The employee shall not be entitled to the annual leave for the period when he is seconded
or on a study leave or on a non-paid leave (no salary/no raises).

Article (48)

a- the employee shall be given a sick leave upon a medical report issued by one of the
accredited doctors and for a period of one week maximum.

b- If the employee is not cured after the sick leave for one week due to the same disease,
he shall be referred to the medical resource to extend his sick leave as deemed
necessary.

c- The sick leave will not be subtracted from the annual leave of the employee.
Article (49)

The employee on a sick leave shall receive his total salary for the first six months and
half his total salary for the period he spends while sick after that for six months. The sick
leave shall start as from the date set by the medical reference.

Article (50)

a- If the employee is not cured from his disease at the end of the year stipulated in
Article (49) herein, he will be re-examined by the medical reference. If this second
examination shall reveal that he has an incurable disease, his service shall be
terminated at the Unit upon a resolution by the Commission based on the Manager’s
advice which is based, in its turn, on the Committee’s recommendation. This is in
case the employee is of the first class. For other employees, the service shall be
terminated upon the Committee’s recommendation.

b- If, when examining the employee at the end of the year stipulated in Article (49)
herein, it was found that the employee’s disease is curable but he cannot resume his
work, the Commission shall have the right to extend his sick leave for another period.
However, this period must not exceed six months without a salary and raises
excluding the family allowance that must be paid in full in all cases.

c- Service of the employee cannot be terminated due to his physical disability even if the
medical reference decides that he has become disabled and cannot perform the tasks
of his job and there would be no result for extending his sick leave unless he has
given at least a six month sick leave. This sick leave must be for a full salary along
with allowances (raises) as from the date fixed by the medical reference as the start of
the sick leave.
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d- If the medical reference shall decide that the employee is disabled from work and
cannot go on with his job, he shall be referred to the Corporation to take the decision
related to the insurance benefit he’s entitled to in compliance with the provisions of
the valid Law of Social Security.

Article (51)

If the employee falls sick while outside the Kingdom on an official assignment or a legal
leave, he will be entitled for a one week leave maximum upon a report of one doctor. The
employee, in this case, must inform the Unit by cable, telex, or fax of his sickness as soon
as possible and must send the medical report he has obtained.

Article (52)

Should the employee remain sick for more than one week while outside the Kingdom and
has obtained a sick report as stipulated in Article (51) herein, he must obtain another
medical report to the effect of his continuous sickness. The report must be issued by two
doctors or by the hospital and must be legalized by the Jordanian Consul, if any. He must
inform the Unit by cable, telex or fax of his sickness. He must also send the relevant
report to be considered. In this case, the Unit shall have the right either to accept or reject
the report. The employee, however, must avail himself at the Unit once he’s back in the
Kingdom in order to be examined. Provisions of Article (50) herein must be observed in
this case.

Article (53)

The employee shall be denied his total salary upon a decision by the Commission based
on the Manager’s advice for the period in which he’s absent from work due to sickness or
injury. This is in case the disease emerges and the injury occurs due to a mistake he ahs
made or to a failure on his side. The employee shall be deemed as making a mistake
against others, misusing things, or doing something that violates the job honor. This
includes substance abuse (alcohol and drugs), gambling, misdemeanor, and bad conduct.

Article (54)

a- If there is an emergency case and the employee is not entitled to an ordinary leave,
the Manager shall have the right to give the employee an emergency leave for a full
salary and for a period or periods that do not exceed fourteen days in the year.

b- The Manager shall have the right to give the employee who has used all his annual
leave a non-paid leave for a period or periods that do not exceed two months a year
depending on his conviction of the reasons calling for such a leave.
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Article (55)

The employee shall have the right to give the employee, who wishes to go for pilgrimage,
a pilgrimage leave for 21 days maximum and for a total salary. This does not exclude the
annual ordinary leave of the employee. The pilgrimage leave, however, is given just for
once to the employee along the period of his service at the Unit.

Article (56)

a- Upon his request, the employee can be given a non-paid leave for a period of six
months minimum and does not exceed three years as a total during his service at the
Unit and in any of the following cases:

1-

If the husband of the employee works outside the Kingdom or if he’s on a study
leave, seconded or delegated in a scholarship or course outside the Kingdom.

If the circumstances of the employee’s family shall call for such a leave.

To the husband or wife if one of them is moved to assume a job outside the
Kingdom.

To the female employee if the family circumstances shall call for her to take care
of her infant, husband or one of her parents in case they are sick and their health
status requires that.

To the male employee in order to take care of one of his parents or his wife or one
of his children if they are sick. However, this must be proved in duly issued health
reports.

To the employee who presents a valid contract for work outside the kingdom and
according to the following conditions:

- His service at the Unit must be two years at least.

- The contract must be with another government, international organization,
regional organization, a public or private corporation, or a company.

- The employee must not come back to his job before the end of the leave given
to him upon the provisions of this Article even if he has finished his work
contract before the end of that period.

b- The leave shall be given in cases stipulated in Paragraph (a) in this Article on
condition that it does not exceed ten year during the period of work that the employee
has spent at the Unit. This leave can be given in parts (not at once)
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c- The leave stipulated in Paragraph (a) in this Article shall be given upon a decision by
the Manager. The Unit shall be committed to return the employee to service in the
grade he was in when starting the leave and for the salary he used to take. This leave
shall be considered as an actual service by the employee.

Article (57)

a- The employee shall submit the leave application in written- sick leave- and two days
at least before the date fixed for the leave to begin. He must show in the application
the period, date of commencement and the place where he will be spending the leave,
his address there, and the end of the leave.

b- The employee shall not have the right to leave his work before he receives a written
notice of approval of the leave unless in mandatory cases approved by the competent
reference.

Article (58)

If the employee does not come back to work at the Unit when the leave is over and
without a legitimate excuse to convince the Committee and the Manager, he shall be
deemed as losing his job as from the day following the end of the leave. This will be
upon a decision by the Manager.

Article (59)

The pregnant employee shall be entitled to maternity leave for seventy continuous days
before and after birth delivery. This leave shall be for a full salary upon a medical report
from an accredited doctor. However, the period used after delivery must not be less than
(2) days. That leave does not form a part of the annual or sick leave. If the female
employee shall use more than 28 days before deliver, the excessive days shall be
subtracted from the balance of her annual leaves or from her salary in case she has no
annual leaves left.

Article (60)

If the employee is called for the military service or for the reserve service, he shall be
deemed as a seconded employee and shall take his full salary from the Unit along the
whole period of this service.

Article (61)

a- Provisions of the sick, study, and pilgrimage leaves shall apply to the full time
chairman at the Unit and to the Manager.

b- The Commission shall decide upon the regulations of the study leaves.
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C-

The other affairs of leaves shall be organized upon a decision by the Manager.

Medical Treatment

Article (62)

a-

The Unit shall provide the medical care for the employee and his family members.
This is in case of the employee whose service ends upon his entitlement to the old age
pension salary or due to disability according to provisions of the valid Law of Social
Security on condition that the retired employee does not benefit from any other
medical services.

All the affairs related to medical care including the rate of paid by the employee shall
be defined upon regulations issued by the Commission based on an advice by the
Manager.

Article (63)

a-

Should the medical reference deems it necessary to treat an employee outside the
Kingdom, the Unit shall be responsible for the expenses stated hereunder and in the
maximum levels decided by the Commission upon an advice by the Manager for this

purpose:
1- Travel and medical care expenses if the residence is inside the hospital.

2- Travel and medical care expenses and the equivalence of the travel allowance for
each night he spends abroad if the residence is outside the hospital.

If the medical reference shall deem it necessary to treat any member of the family of
the employee covered with medical care outside the Kingdom, the Unit shall be in
charge of 50% of the expenses of treatment, travel and medical care within the
maximum levels decided by the Commission for this purpose and upon an advice by
the Manager.

Chapter Six

Travel and Movement Allowances

Article (64)

a-

If an employee is asked to do an assignment outside his work place and inside the
Kingdom, he shall be paid for each night he spends outside his work place the
following travel allowance:
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Grades/Classes Travel Allowance in JD
14-15 30
10-13 24
5-9 20
1-4 and fifth class 16

b- If the assignment is to the Capital or to Agaba, the travel allowance stipulated in
Paragraph (a) shall be increased in 50%.

Article (65)
a- If any employee is given an assignment outside the Kingdom, he shall be paid for
each night he spends in this assignment a travel allowance that includes all expenses

he shall be in charge of as follows:

Travel allowances in JD

Grade/Class For Countries For countries of
of Class A Class B
14-15 158 113
10-13 135 90
5-9 113 83
1-4 and fifth class 90 75

b- The travel allowance set for the head of the selected delegation shall be increased in
(50%) of this allowance on condition that the grade is not less than 14.

Article (66)
If the employee has been delegated to a course or scholarship outside the country, he
shall be paid in addition to the study fees and book prices the following monthly

allowances as follows:

Monthly allowances in Dinar

Grade/Class For Countries For countries of
of Class A Class B
14-15 360 300
10-13 300 270
5-9 270 240
1-4 and fifth class 240 210
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Article (67)

a- The employee who is delegated to an assignment, course or scholarship outside the
Kingdom shall get the travel tickets he’s entitled to according to his grade and at the
expense of the Unit.

b- Wife of the employee delegated to a scholarship shall get two-way travel tickets
(economy class) for once only.

c- The Unit shall be in charge of the travel tickets for the person delegated on the
expense of another party if these tickets are not given to him from that party. This
shall be according to the provisions of Article (70) herein.

Article (68)

If an employee is delegated in a course or scholarship outside the Kingdom, he shall be
paid the travel allowance stipulated in Article (65) herein. The allowance shall be for two
weeks; he will also be paid allowances he shall be entitled to for the rest of the period
according to the provisions of Article (66) thereof.

Article (69)

The Unit can take the accommodation expenses for the delegated person within the
amounts decided by the Commission for this purpose on condition that 50% be subtracted
from the travel allowances or the monthly allowances he’s entitled to.

Article (70)

The person delegated in a mission, course or scholarship inside and outside the Kingdom
shall be allowed to use the following transportation means:

Grade Car Plane Train Ship
14-15 Full First First First
10-13 Full Economy First First
1-9 and fifth class | One seat Economy Second Second
Article (71)

If another party is in charge of the expenses of the assignment, course or scholarship or
any part thereof, the employee shall be paid part of the travel allowances according to the
regulations set by the Commission in this respect and upon the advice of the Manager.
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Article (72)

a- The Commission shall set the allowances of transportation and travel of the Chairman
and the Manager should they be delegated to an official mission inside and outside
the Kingdom.

b- The employees of the Unit shall be subject to the governmental transportation by-law
No. (56) for 1981 or any other by-law that comes after it or replaces it according to
the content of Article (4) herein for the cases not stipulated herein.

Chapter Seven
Scholarships, assignments and training courses
Article (73)

a- The Chairman or the Manager shall be delegated to any task, course, scholarship or
conference upon a resolution by the Commission.

b- The employee shall be nominated and delegated to any scholarship or course inside or
outside the Kingdom upon a resolution by the Manager based on a recommendation
by the Committee.

c- The employee shall be delegated to a mission whether inside or outside the Kingdom
upon a resolution by the Manager.

d- Upon a decision of the Manager, the employee delegated in a scholarship, course or
task can be given an advanced payment on the expenses he is entitled to on condition
that the advanced payment be of the amount he is entitled to for the whole period.

e- Any special delegate shall be formed in the Unit upon a decision by the Manager. The
Manager shall also nominate representatives of the Unit on the official delegates.

f- Requirements of delegating employees to scholarships, courses and missions inside
and outside the Kingdom and including the judicial bond (guarantee) shall be set
according to a resolution issued by the Commission based on the recommendation by
the Committee for this purpose.

Article (74)

The period of any delegation shall be set according to the period required to get the
academic or training qualification. However, this period must not exceed four years. The
Commission and upon an advice of the Manager and recommendation of the Committee
shall have the right to extend the period to the period required to get a Ph.D.. The
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delegation period, as a whole, must not exceed five years. Content of Paragraph © of
Article (76) herein must be observed.

Article (75)

a-

The employee delegated to a scholarship inside the Kingdom and does not quit work
at the Unit shall be committed, at the end of his scholarship, to serve at the Unit, any
ministry, department or official public corporation. The commitment shall be
transferred to these for the period stipulated to get the academic degree, certificate, or
training qualification. In this case, he shall be paid his total salary, university fees,
and prices of books.

The employee delegated to a scholarship or course outside the Kingdom shall be
committed at the end of his scholarship or course to serve at the Unit, any ministry,
department or official public corporation where his commitment is transferred. He
shall serve for as twice the period spent for the scholarship or course in case of the
Ph.D. and for as three times the scholarship period in case of M.A.

Provisions of Paragraph (b) of this Article shall be applied to the employee delegated
in a scholarship or course inside the Kingdom if his delegation requires him to stop
assume his job duties at the Unit.

If the delegated employee resigns at the end of his scholarship or his work ends
before completing the commitment period, he must pay all the costs of the
scholarship spent by the Unit for the remaining period of commitment excluding the
following:

1- If the service of the employee has ended upon completion of legal age.

2- If the service of the employee ends due to illness upon a resolution by the medical
committee.

Article (76)

a-

b-

the employee delegated in a scholarship or course inside the Kingdom shall be
entitled to his total salary along the period needed for the scholarship.

The employee delegated in a scholarship outside the Kingdom shall be entitled to the
following:

- his total salary for the first six months of the scholarship.

- Three quarters of his total salary for the remaining period of his scholarship if
he’s married and half of it if he’s single.

In order to apply Paragraph (b) of this Article, the scholarship period must not exceed
four full years. However, if the period is more than that, the delegated person shall
not be paid any part of his salary for any period that exceeds four years whether or
not the scholarship has been extended according to the provisions herein.
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d- The Unit shall have the right to request the parties operating in the filed of technical
assistance programs in order to benefit from the study and training grants they
provide at the Kingdom.

Article (77)

a- The employee shall be given an assignment inside or outside the Kingdom upon a
resolution by the Manager.

b- The employee cannot accept any official invitation extended thereto in relation with
an assignment inside or outside the Kingdom unless obtaining a written approval
from the Manager to this effect. Such an invitation can be extended by governments,
departments, institutions, foreign bodies, or companies.

Article (78)

Any other requirements or provisions related to the delegation of employees shall be set
upon regulations issued by the Commission.

Chapter Eight

The Saving Fund

Article (79)

a- A fund shall be established at the Unit called the Saving Fund. Subscription to this
Fund shall be mandatory for the full time chairman, the manager and the employees
of the Unit.

b- A rate of 5% (ten percent) shall be subtracted from the basic monthly salary of each
member in the Fund. The Unit shall pay for this amount on a monthly basis. The
amount gathered from both will be placed in a special account in name of the
participant in the Fund.

c- The full time chairman and the manager’s subscription to the fund shall take place as
from the date of their assuming job at the Unit. Subscription of the employee to the
Saving Fund shall take place as from the date of being appointed in the Personnel.

d- The Commission shall set the amount of the salary at which the chairman, the
manager and the employees against contract shall be subject to the Saving Fund.

2 Translated exactly as in the source text. In figures it is written 5% and in words (ten percent). It
might be that the Unit shall pay ten percent!
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Article (80)

Special and separate accounts shall be kept at the Unit for the money of the Saving Fund
according to the bases set for this purpose.

Article (81)

The employee delegated to a scholarship and is not paid his salary; the employee
seconded or on either a study leave or a non-paid leave shall be excluded from
subscription to the Saving Fund all the period of the scholarship, secondment, or leave.

Article (82)

Matters related to the Saving Fund including the bases to invest its money, management
and borrowing therefrom shall be set upon regulations issued by the Commission for this

purpose.

Chapter Nine

Disciplinary Procedures

Article (83)

If the employee commits a violation of laws, by-laws, regulations and decisions enforced
at the Unit or if he acts in a manner to cause distortion of responsibilities and powers
assigned thereto, or if such an action violates the job ethics and the employee’s duties,
one of the following disciplinary penalties shall be imposed on him:

a- written notice

b- written letter of warning

c- subtraction from the basic monthly month up to its one quarter maximum
d- deny him the ordinary annual raise

e- Decrease salary in terms of grade

f- Dismissal

Article (84)

a- All the penalties shall be imposed by the Manager upon the Committee’s advice in
their capacity as a disciplinary council. However, the dismissal penalty imposed on
heads of departments shall be imposed upon a resolution by the Commission based on
the advice of the Manager upon the Committee’s recommendation.

b- Upon an advice by the Committee, the Manager shall have the right to form an
investigation committee to consider violations that call for such an investigation.
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c- The Manager shall have the right to request the specialized parties to prevent the
employee referred to the investigation committee from departing from the Kingdom.

Article (85)
Service of the employee shall be terminated in any of the following cases:

a- If sentenced by a competent court with a crime or misdemeanor such as bribe,
robbery, theft, fraud, mistrust, false testimony or any other crime that violate the
public moral. Also, in case of sentence with imprisonment by a competent court for
three months or more for committing any crime. In any of such cases, the employee
shall be deemed as legally dismissed as from the date of final sentence.

b- If a decision is issued by the Disciplinary Committee to dismiss him and the
Commission or the Manager ratifies the decision as necessary.

c- If proved to commit a mistake or a serious action that harms the interest of the Unit
and the competent party decides this.

d- If penalized with a decrease of the salary and then commits another violation for
which he has been penalized by one of the penalties stipulated herein in two
successive years.

e- If he no more fulfills one of the recruitment requirements stipulated herein.
Article (86)

a- If a penal lawsuit is filed against is filed against the employee, no disciplinary
procedures can be taken against him in relation with the penal charge against him
until a final decision is issued in terms of the penal lawsuit.

b- If the employee is proved innocent in the lawsuit filed against him according to
Paragraph (a) in this Article; or if a sentence is issued to set him free from the charge
against him, disciplinary procedures against him must be taken. This is in compliance
with the provisions herein and for that violation he has committed. The adequate
disciplinary penalty must be imposed on him in case of being condemned.

Article (87)

a- In case the employee is referred to the investigation committee, to the Public Attorney
or to the court, the manager shall have the right to stop him from work. Such an
employee is entitled to a rate of the total salary that does not exceed half the salary as
decided by the Manager. This applies to the whole period when the employee is
stopped from work.
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b-

If the procedures taken against the employee who has been stopped from work do not
end in dismissal, he shall be entitled to his total salary for the whole period when he
was stopped from work. This applies if such a period is nine months or less.
However, if the period is more than nine months, he shall be given his whole salary
for the first nine months and half the salary for the period exceeding nine months.

Article (88)

If the employee commits a deed or causes harm or loss to the Unit whether alone or in
participation with others, he shall be held responsible for that harm or loss or any part
thereof according to a decision by the Commission or the Manager based on the
Committee’s recommendation and as necessary.

Article (89)

a-

For any purpose set in these instructions, no disciplinary penalty imposed on the
employee and has been executed against him will not be taken into consideration if it
has been proved upon the provisions of Paragraph (b) of this Article that the
employee’s conduct, work and behavior were good and improved after imposing on
him the penalty and the following periods have passed since then:

1- one year at least if the penalty is a written notice.
2- Two years at least if the penalty is the warning or subtraction from salary.

3- Three years at least if the penalty is the denial of the ordinary annual raise or
decrease of salary in the grade.

b- Upon a recommendation by the Committee, the Manager shall issue his decision to
the effect that penalties in Paragraph (a) in this Article will not be valid.

Article (90)

a- If the investigation committee or commission formed in compliance with these

instructions has found out that the violation charged to the employee referred thereto
implies a penal crime, they must recommend referral of the employee with the
investigation minutes, documents and other instruments to the Public Attorney or the
competent court. This is meant to proceed further with the case according to
provisions of Law. In this case, no disciplinary procedure can be taken against that
employee and not procedure already taken can be resumed until the final judicial
sentence is issued. In this case the employee is referred to the Public Attorney or to
the competent court upon a resolution by the Commission if the employee is of the
first class and upon a resolution by the Manager for other employees.
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b- Setting the employee free from the claim or lawsuit against him as stipulated in
provisions of Paragraph (a) in this Article or the judgment that he is not responsible
for what he was charged with will not prevent from taking the relevant disciplinary
procedures against him or has been charged with by the Committee.

Chapter Ten

End of Service

Article (91)

In case the employee has become incapable of assuming his job duties, the Commission
shall have the right to terminate his service upon an advice by the Manager based on the
Committee’s recommendation. However, he must be paid all his financial dues according
to Paragraph (a) of Article (93) herein.

Article (92)

a- Service of the employee shall be considered as ended in the Unit in any of the
following cases:

1- If completing sixty years of age for the male employee and fifty five years for the
female employee. Upon the advice by the Manager, the Commission shall have
the right to extend their service for five years maximum should either of them
request that.

2- If set on retirement according to the provisions of Article (44) of the valid Law of
Social Security or any other text to replace or amend it.

3- Provisional retirement with half pay (Isteeda’)

4- Approval of resignation

6- Losing job

7- Deteriorated health status
8- Sacking

9- Dismissal

10- Loss of Jordanian nationality
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b-

11- Cancellation of job
12- Death

An employee wishing to resign must submit a written resignation one month at least
as from the date of its becoming valid. However, the employee must carry on his job
duties until receiving a written notice of approval.

Article (93)

a-

While observing the provisions of Paragraphs (b) and (c) in this Article, if the
employee’s service at the Unit ends for any reason excluding resignation, loss of job,
sacking, or dismissal, the following indemnity shall be paid to the employee:

1- amounts accumulated for his account at the Saving Fund.
2- Total salary due to him till the end of service.
3- Total salary of the annual leave due to him till the end of his service.

4- Hid dues of annual remuneration for the service period at that year and according
to Article (30) herein.

5- The latest total monthly salary for each year he has spent in serving the Unit and
as follows:

- Total salary of one month for each year of service for the employee whose
service at the Unit does not exceed ten years.

- One month and a half total salary for each year of service for the employee
whose service at the Unit exceeds ten years up to fifteen years maximum.

- Total salary of two months for each year of service for the employee whose
service in the Unit is fifteen years.

If the service of the employee ends at the Unit with resignation and his service counts
for five years or more, amounts stipulated in Paragraph (a) in this Article shall be paid
thereto.

If the employee’s service ends in resignation and his service at the Unit was less than
five years or if it ends with dismissal or losing the job or terminating service, he shall
be paid his total contribution at the Saving Fund and its revenue only as well as what
is stipulated in Clauses (2), (3) and (4) of Paragraph (a) in this Article.
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Article ( 94)

Upon an advice by the Manager based on the Committee’s recommendation, the
Commission shall have the right to terminate service of the employee by sacking in any
of the following cases:

a- If it has been proved upon a report by the Manager based on a report by the
competent Department Manager that the employee is no more capable of serving the
Unit up to the required level and that the possibility to improve his work has become
limited.

b- If the employee’s service at the Unit has reached or exceeded twenty years for the
male employee and fifteen years for the female employee.

c- If fulfilling the requirements of pension salary entitlement as stipulated in Article (44)
of the Law of Social Security and its amendments whether or not there is a condition

to apply for pension salary.

d- If the Manager is convinced that there are special conditions for the employee that
make him unable to go on with work.

e- If one of the official institutions inside the Kingdom is in need for the services of the
employee.

Article (95)

When the employee’s service ends for no matter what reason, all the amounts due to the
Unit and owed by the employee thereto shall be subtracted. These amounts include loans
of the Saving Fund and installments due from the housing loans.

Chapter Eleven

Provisional Retirement

Article (96)

a- Upon an advice by the Manager, the Commission shall have the right to put an
employee on provisional retirement for five years maximum to complete the period of
time required for him to become entitled for the pension salary upon the provisions of
the Law of Social Security.

b- The employee put on provisional retirement shall receive half his salary during the
concerned period.
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c- Provisional retirement period shall be considered as an actual service for the
employee for the following purposes:

I- To be covered with the share paid by the Unit on behalf of its employees
according to the provisions of the Law of Social Security.

2- Subscription at the Saving Fund.
3- Coverage with medical care
4- Entitlement to the end of service package.

d- Monthly subscription fees paid to the Social Security Corporation on behalf of the
employee put on the provisional retirement period shall be calculated for his total
salary on date of being put on the provisional retirement. These shall be subtracted
from that salary according to the provisions of this Law.

e- Decision to put the employee on provisional retirement shall be deemed as a decision
to legally terminate his service at the Unit when the provisional retirement period is
over and with no need to issue any decision to this effect.

Chapter Twelve:

General Provisions

Article (97)
The Commission shall define the financial rights of the Chairman and the Manager in

cases not stipulated in these instructions. These include remuneration, awards, and
amounts accumulated in their name in the Pension Fund.

Article (98)

a- Upon an advice by the Manager, the Commission shall issue the resolutions required
for the implementation of the provisions herein.

b- The Manager can authorize his powers stipulated in these instructions to any of the

managers of departments on condition that such an authorization be in written and in
specific terms.

These instructions shall enter into practice as from....... [oviiinin. /2002
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Investment Unit Management
At the Social Security Corporation

Established upon By-law (111) for 2001
Issued upon the provisions of Article (76) of the Social Security Law
No. (19) for 2001

Expense Approval Instructions
Issued upon the provisions of Article (14) of the Unit By-law (111) for 2001

Upon a Resolution by the Corporation Board of Directors No. ()
At the Session No.( ) heldon / /2002

AMIR Program 73



Administrative and Financial Instructions for the SSIC Final Report

Expense Approval Instructions

Of the Investment Unit Management
At the Social Security Corporation
Issued upon the provisions Article (14) of the Corporation’s Investment Fund
By-Law No. (111) for 2001 upon the Board Resolution No. ( )
At Session No. () held on /]

Article (1)

These instructions shall be called “Instructions of Authorizing and Approving of revenue,
capital and investment expenses at the Unit”. They shall apply to all expenses of the Unit
and shall be valid as of the date of being passed by the Board.

Article (2)

Wherever they should occur, the following words and expressions in these instructions

shall have the meaning designated next to each of them unless otherwise connoted by the
Context:

Corporation : | The Social Security Corporation

Board : | The Corporation’s Board of Directors

By-law : | By-law of the Corporation’s Investment Fund No.
(111) for 2001

The Commission : | The Unit’s Management Commission that was
formulated in accordance with Article 7 of Regulation
number 111 for the year 2001

The Unit : | The apparatus responsible for managing the
investment of the Corporation’s funds

The Chairman : | The Commission’s Chairman

The Manager : | The Unit’s Executive Manager

The Financial Manager : | Manager of the Financial and Administrative
Department at the Unit

Investment Committee : | Committee for Investment formed upon a resolution
by the Commission from Board members

Internal Investment : | The Committee formed by a resolution of the

Committee Chairman upon a recommendation of the Manager
supported by advice from departments managers at the
Unit

Article (3)

The Investment Committee shall be formed upon a resolution by the Commission
according to the following:

a- The Investment Committee shall comprise of five members of the Commission under
the Chairmanship of the Chairman or the vice-chairman in case the former is absent.
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The triple representation of the Board must be observed when forming the
Committee.

Meetings of the Committee shall be legal when attended by three members at least.
However, one of these must be the chairman or the vice chairman.

The Committee shall make its decisions and/or recommendations upon the attending
majority. In case of equal votes, the opinion to which the meeting chairperson has
voted shall be preponderant.

The investment committee shall hold their meeting upon a request by the Chairman or
the vice-chairman in case the former is absent.

The Manager shall assign a secretary of the Committee to produce minutes of
meetings and resolutions to be served to the concerned departments and duly
implemented and kept at the Committee secretary in absolute confidentiality in a safe.

Article (4)

a-

The internal Investment Committee shall be formed upon a resolution by the
Chairman upon a recommendation of the Manager of four managers of
investment departments at the Unit. The Manager shall be chairman of such a
committee.

The Committee’s Chairman shall assign a vice-chairman to preside over the
Committee in case of the manager’s absence.

Meetings of the Committee shall be legal if attended by three members at least.
However, one of them must be either the committee’s chairman or vice-chairman.

The Manager shall assign a secretary for this Committee from the Unit employees.

The Committee shall hold its meetings upon a request by its Chairman. Studies and
memos set for investment shall be delivered before the session is held in order for the
members to review and study them thoroughly.

Resolutions and/ or recommendations shall be made by the Committee upon the
attending majority. In case votes are equal, the opinion to which the session’s
chairman votes shall be preponderant.

Article (5)

Duties of the internal investment committee shall be set at the following:

a_

Provide consultancy for the Commission, the investment committee, or the manager
in terms of issues and policies related to investment.
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b- Make investment decisions according to powers set in the approval of investment
expenses set in these instructions.

c- Discuss and review investment transactions proposed according to these instructions
and make the relevant decisions within the powers set in the approval of expenses
designated thereafter.

d- Submit advice to the Manager in relation with investment transactions within its
powers or when requested to do so.

e- Periodical revision of the investment transactions upon a request by the Manager.

f- Study prices of company shares circulated on Amman Stock Exchange and
recommend to the Manager to purchase or sell shares of those companies.

g- Implement any other jobs assigned thereto by the Commission, Chairman or
Manager.

Article (6)

When making decisions to approve expenses, amounts allocated in the draft budget, the
investment strategy and policy adopted at the Unit, financial instructions, procurement
instructions, personnel code and these instructions must be observed.

Article (7)
Powers and approval of revenue expenses at the Unit must be defined as follows:

a_

The Manager shall have the power to approve revenue expenses as follows:

- Expenses that are legally justified regardless of the amount according to the
provisions of Article (23) of the financial instructions.

- Investment expenses approved by the authorized party and regardless of their
amount.

- Deposits eligible for payment and amounts received by mistake to the Unit, in
accordance with Articles (21,70) of the financial instructions.

- Overtime wages (excluding the Manager and department managers at the Unit)

- Contractual expenses and other expenses approved by the authorized party
regardless of their amount.
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- Indemnities, remuneration, allocations and expenses due to workers at the Unit in
compliance with laws, by-laws, regulations, bills, and decisions that are valid at
the Unit.

- Administrative expenses according to Articles (24, 26) of the financial
instructions on condition that the amount of each expense item does not exceed
JD 15,000 (fifteen thousand Dinars).

b- The Chairman shall have the right to authorize and approve revenue expenses at the
Unit as follows:

- Fees of consultants and experts and professionals who are hired for
temporary periods of time.

- Monthly entertainment expenses.

- If the one expense item is over JD 15,000 (fifteen thousand Dinars)
and does not exceed JD 50,000 (fifty thousand Dinars).

c- The Commission can authorize and approve revenue expenses at the Unit as follows:

Fees of external auditors.

Incentive packages for those working at the Unit

If the one expense items exceeds JD 50,000 (fifty thousand Dinars)
Any other administrative expense approved by the Commission.

Article (8)

While observing the amounts allocated in the draft budget and the instructions of
procurement and supplies, and financial instructions being applied at the Unit, the powers
of authorizing and approving capital expenses at the Unit shall be as follows:

a- The Manager shall have the right to authorize and approve capital expenses the
amount of which does not exceed JD 15,000 (fifteen thousand Dinars) for the one
expense item.

b- The Chairman shall have the right to authorize and approve capital expenses the

amount of which exceeds JD 15,000 (fifteen thousand Dinars) up to JD 50,000 (fifty
thousand Dinars) for the one expense item.

c- The Commission shall have the right to authorize and approve capital expenses the
amount of which exceeds JD 50,000 (fifty thousand Dinars) for the one expense item.

Article (9)

Powers of the Manager to authorize and approve investment expenses shall be as follows:
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Approval of purchasing and selling equity shares through the organized Amman
Stock Exchange upon a recommendation by the Internal Investment Committee.

I) Shares holding or subscription to stock at one of the new or existing companies or
purchase of shares on the non-organized financial market for the maximum
amount of JD 100,000 (one hundred thousand Dinars) for the one transaction.

1) Approval of capital installments payments called for shareholdings that have been
already approved by the authorized party.

Participation in joint investment funds or those that are fully owned by the
Corporation/ Unit in terms of shares and/or financial securities, and open funds, at
one of the banks or local institutions, to the amount of JD 250,000 (two hundred fifty
thousand Dinars) per fund.

I) Nomination of representatives of the Unit at ordinary and extraordinary general
assemblies of companies.

IT) Selection and replacement of brokers at the Amman Stock Exchange.

Approval of subscription to bonds and debentures that can be traded and are
guaranteed by the Government or by banks for a maximum amount of JD 3,000,000
(three million Dinars) per the one transaction and upon the recommendation of the
internal investment committee.

The power to open and close accounts at banks, deposit and distribute current
deposits and CDs among banks, as well as the renewal of deposits and subscription to
deposit certificates, treasury bills, selling or discounting them, all while observing the
amounts allocated in the draft budget and within the limits set in the investment
policies and strategies adopted by the Unit.

Approval of selling bonds and debentures.
Approval of renting or consigning investment in real estate as follows:

- Defining the rental fee, or the consignment fee, and turn key amount for shops
and offices according to the market value.

- Approval of scheduling the rental fee and consignment and turn key value into
installments.

- Approval of defining the increase rate in the rental fee in case of a change in the
nature of profession or any other similar case.
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- Approval of exempting tenants from the deferment interests incurred for rental
fees on condition that the deferment period does not exceed (15) fifteen days.

- Approval of any other matters related to rental operations.

Article (10)

Powers of the internal investment committee in terms of authorizing and approving
investment expenses shall be as follows:

a- Share holding or subscription to stock in new and existing companies as well as the
purchase of shares (other than the transactions of purchasing shares on the organized
market) for any transaction of JD 100,000 (one hundred thousand Dinars) and up to
JD 250,000 (two hundred fifty thousand Dinars)

b- Participation in joint investment funds or the funds that are fully owned by the
Corporation/ Unit, and open funds, at one of the local financial institutions. For any
fund, the direct investment is at JD 250,000 (two hundred fifty thousand Dinars) and
up to JD 500,000 (five hundred thousand Dinars).

c- Subscription to development bonds and treasury bonds that can be traded, and are
guaranteed by the Government, at a local financial institution. For any direct
investment in funds, the amount is at JD 3,000,000 (three million Dinars) up to JD
5,000,000 (five million Dinars)

d- Approval of granting loans or participation in syndicate loans, regardless if they are
convertible into shares or not as follows:

- To a maximum of JD 2,000,000 (two million Dinars) in case of participation in a
syndicate loan or a bi-lateral loan for the government, or a loan covered by an
acceptable bank or government guarantee.

- To a maximum of JD 1,000,000 (one million Dinars) in case of a direct loan to the
Government or covered by an acceptable bank or government guarantee.

- Subscription to the development bonds and treasury bonds that can be traded and
are issued by the Government or the Central Bank of Jordan.

Article (11)

Powers of the investment committee to authorize and approve investment expenses shall
be defined by the following tasks:

a- Subscription to stock or shareholding in public shareholding companies whether new
or existing, and the purchase of shares (other than transactions of purchasing shares
from the Stock Exchange) for any transaction the amount of which exceeds JD
250,000 (two hundred fifty thousand Dinars) but not exceeding JD 2,000,000 (two
million Dinars).
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Subscription to bonds and debentures that can be traded and are guaranteed by the
Government or any financial institution. As well as subscription to Treasury bills for
any issuance, for which the subscription amount exceeds JD 5,000,000 (five million
Dinars) up to JD 6,000,000 (six million Dinars).

Participation in one of the investment funds owned by the Corporation/ participating
Unit for amounts that exceed JD 500,000 (five hundred thousand Dinars) up to JD
1,000,000 (one million Dinars) per fund.

I) Subscription to bonds and debentures issued by one of the public shareholding
companies that are guaranteed by the Government or one of the banks for any
issuance transaction with a maximum of JD 1,000,000 (one million Dinars)

IT) Subscription to bonds and debentures issued by one of the limited liability
companies that is not guaranteed up to JD 500,000 (five hundred thousand
Dinars) upon a recommendation by the internal investment committee.

Approval of selling shares of the unit or replacing them, for the non-listed companies
at the organized Amman Stock Exchange, for amounts the which exceed JD 100,000
(one hundred thousand Dinars).

Approval of granting loans or participation in syndicate loans, regardless whether or
not they are convertible into shares, and within the following amounts per transaction:

- Joint or bi-lateral loans given to the Government and are covered by a
government or bank guarantee for amounts the value of which exceeds JD
2,000,000 (two million Dinars) up to JD 7,000,000 (seven million Dinars) per
loan.

- The direct loan given to the Government or covered by an acceptable government
or bank guarantee for amounts that exceed JD 1,000,000 (one million Dinars) up
to JD 4,000,000 (four million Dinars) per loan.

- Joint or bi-lateral loans that are not covered with an acceptable government or
bank guarantee up to JD 2,000,000 (two million Dinars) per loan.

- If the loan is direct and not covered with an acceptable government or bank
guarantee up to JD 500,000 (five hundred thousand Dinars) per loan.

- If the loan is not covered by a Government guarantee or an acceptable bank, it is
preferred to have a first degree mortgage to the benefit of the Unit, on condition
that the one loan does not exceed (75%) of the mortgage amount.

Approval of converting, an already given loan, along with its accrued interests and
commissions, either wholly or in part, into in-kind shares at one of the companies or
possessing real estate or lands for that, for a maximum amount of JD 1,000,0000 (one
million Dinars) per transaction.
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h-

Approval of purchasing and selling owned land and projects up to JD 500,000 (five
hundred thousand Dinars) per transaction.

Approval of allocating amounts for capital expenditure on owned projects for the
purpose of establishing, expanding, developing, or renewing them and their assets.
This includes all investment expenditure up to JD 1,000,000 (one million Dinars) per
project.

Approval of renting or consigning (an investment contract) owned projects as well as
contracting the specialized management companies in relation with any owned
project. This project’s book value must not exceed JD 3,000,000 (three million
Dinars) before depreciation.

Approval of transferring any owned project or any pieces of land into in-kind shares
in one of the companies up to JD 1,000,000 (one million Dinars) per transaction.

Liquidation of a company or changing its nature of activity if the Corporation/ unit
holds shares of 40% maximum of its capital.

Article (12)

Powers of the Commission to authorize and approve investment expenses at the Unit
shall be as follows:

a-

Subscription to or holding shares in new or existing companies or purchasing shares
(other than share purchase on the Stock Exchange) for any transaction that exceeds
JD 2,000,000 (two million Dinars) up to JD 4,000,000 (four million Dinars).

Participation in one of the investment funds that are wholly owned by the
Corporation/ Unit, or are participating in, for more than JD 1,000,000 (one million
Dinars) per fund up to JD 2,000,000 (two million Dinars).

a- Subscription to bonds and debentures issued by one of the public shareholding
companies, that are guaranteed by the Government or one of the banks, for amounts
that exceed JD 6,000,000 (six million Dinars) up to JD 8,000,000 (eight million
Dinars) per transaction.

b- Subscription to bonds and debentures issued by one of the limited liability
companies, and are not guaranteed, for amounts that exceed JD 1,000,000 (one
million Dinars) up to JD 2,000,000 (two million Dinars). It is preferable to secure a
mortgage to the benrfit of the Unit and that the loan must not exceed (75%) of the
mortgage amount.

Liquidation of one of the companies or changing the nature of its activity if the
percentage of ownership is more than 40% of its capital.
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c-

Approval of granting or participation in syndicate loans, regardless whether or not
they are convertible into shares or not, as follows:

- To participate in a joint or bi-lateral loan for amounts that exceed JD 7,000,000
(seven million Dinars) up to JD 10,000,000 (ten million Dinars). However, the
loan must be granted to the Government or covered with an acceptable
governmental or bank guarantee.

- For a direct loan given to the Government or covered with an acceptable
government or bank guarantee for amounts that exceed JD 4,000,000 (four
million Dinars) up to JD 6,000,000 (six million Dinars) per loan.

- To participate in a joint or bi-lateral loan that is not covered with an acceptable
governmental or bank guarantee. The loan amount exceeds JD 2,000,000 (two
million Dinars) per loan up to JD 3,000, 000 (three million Dinars) per loan. It is
preferable that he mortgage is of the first degree to the benefit of the Unit and for
a maximum of 75% of the mortgage amount.

- For a direct loan the amount of which exceeds JD 500,000 (five hundred thousand
Dinars) up to JD 1,000,000 (one million Dinars) if not covered by a guarantee or
mortgage.

Approval of purchasing and selling owned land and projects, the amount of which
exceeds JD 500,000 (five hundred thousand Dinars) up to JD 1,000,000 (one million
Dinars) per transaction.

Approval of allocating amounts for capital expenditure on owned projects for the
purposes of establishing, expanding, developing or renewing its assets, and all types
of capital expenditure, for up to JD 2,000,000 (two million Dinars) per project.

Approval of renting or consigning (an investment contract) projects owned by the
Corporation/ Unit and contracting specialized management companies for any owned
project, having a book value before depreciation the amount of JD 3,000,000 (three
million Dinars). This applies for amounts that exceed JD 3,000,000 (three million
Dinars) up to JD 5,000,000 (five million Dinars).

Approval of transferring any owned project or land to in-kind shares in a company,
for amounts that exceed JD 1,000,000 (one million Dinars) up to JD 3,000,000 (three
million Dinars) per transaction.

Article (13)

The Commission shall assign Unit representatives (from among its members, the
manager, or from among Unit managers) on the Board of Directors of Companies where
it holds shares and upon the recommendation of the Manager.
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Article (14)

a-

The Board shall exercise the power of authorizing and approving expenses in light of
the estimated budget, taking into consideration the limits set in the investment
policies and strategies for share underwriting, bonds, and fixed assets, for the
amounts that exceed what’s been set within the powers of the different committees,
the manager, or the Commission in these instructions, and whether they are revenue,
capital or investment expenses.

In cases that the Board shall deem as necessary and achieve the interest of the
Corporation/ Unit, the Board can exercise the power of making any decision in terms
of authorizing and approving of expenses that are allocated in the Estimated Budget.

Article (15)

a-

Approval of the loan amount, interest rate and term, and all amendments thereafter,
shall be issued by the party authorized to give the loans. This party shall have the
right to delegate this power to the manager and on ad hoc basis (per transaction).

Setting and amending loan commissions of all types shall be done by the Manager,
unless the party authorized to give the loan has issued its resolution upon the
existence of a certain commission. Then, the approval of that party must be solicited
when amending the interest rate, unless that party has authorized the Manager to
approve fixing or amending that commission or waiving it if necessary.

The Manager shall have the power to approve loan agreements according to the
provisions herein. He shall also have the right to set other conditions that are not
stipulated by the authorized party when making its decision. This applies both at the
time of approval of the loan and any other subsequent amendments.

Article (16)

a_

The Commission shall have the right to delegate any of its powers to the Chairman
who shall have the right to delegate any of his powers to the Manager. The Manager
shall have the right to delegate any of his powers to any manager at the Unit. All
delegations should be specific and in writing in all cases.

The authorized party endowed with the highest authority shall have the right to make
any decision to authorize and approve an expense within the powers of a lower
authority.

The Manager shall have the right to delegate in writing the powers of authorizing and
approving the disbursement and expenditure from petty cash to the financial manager
and according to the instructions issued by the Commission to this effect.

These instructions shall be valid as from ........ [oviiinin. /2000

AMIR Program 83



Administrative and Financial Instructions for the SSIC Final Report

Investment Unit Management
At the Social Security Corporation
Established upon the By-law No. (111) for 2001
Issued upon the provisions of Article (76) of the Social Security Law
No. (19) for 2001
Supplies and Procurement Instructions

Issued upon the Provisions of Article (14) of the Investing the Corporation’s Funds
By-law No. (111) for 2001

Upon a resolution by the Corporation Board of Directors No. ()
In session No. ( ) held on ...... [eveuas /2002
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Supplies and Procurement Instructions
For the Investment Unit

at the Social Security Corporation upon the provisions of Article (14) of the Investing the
Corporation Funds By-law No. (111) for 2001 and upon the resolution of the Board No.
( ) in their session No. ( Yheldon ...... [oc.... /2002.

Article (1)

These instructions shall be called “Supplies and Procurement Instructions of the
Investment Unit at the Social Security Corporation”. The provisions of these instructions
shall be applied to the supplies and purchases of the Unit and shall be entered into force
as of the date of being approved by the Board.

Article (2)

Wherever they shall occur, The following words and terms shall have the meaning
opposite to each of them unless otherwise connoted by the context:

Corporation : | The Social Security Corporation

Board : | The Corporation’s Board of Directors

By-law : | By-law of the Corporation’s Investment Fund No. (111)
for 2001

The Commission : | The Unit’s Management Commission that was formulated
in accordance with Article 7 of Regulation number 111
for the year 2001

The Chairman : | The Commission’s Chairman

The Unit : | The apparatus responsible for managing the investment of
the Corporation’s funds

The Manager : | The Unit’s Executive Manager

Committee : | The Supplies and Procurement Committee formed upon
these instructions

Supplies : | Supplies and purchases, articles, tasks, tools, furniture,
machines, equipment, sets, stationery, works and any
other materials or services that the Unit needs including
insurance and maintenance of assets.

Section : | The section that handles supplies needs at the Unit.

Contractor : | Any natural or corporate body who provides supplies for
the Unit.

Article (3):

The Section shall undertake the following tasks and powers:

a- Prepare and set plans necessary to provide supplies, and define means of
implementing the plan.
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c-

Complete processes of purchasing supplies according to the provisions of these
instructions.

Keep supplies, store them in warehouses, and maintain them. Modern methods are to
be used to achieve this, and to keep records and statistics cards.

Develop the Section and improve it regularly, including the adoption of relevant
standards to supplies, in particular those with recurrent use.

Participate in the inventory of supplies on an annual basis or whenever needed.

Article (4)

a-

The Manager shall form a committee called (the Supplies and Procurement
Committee). The committee shall include five of the senior employees of the Unit.
The Administrative and Financial Manager shall be its chairman. The Committee
shall practice the tasks and powers stipulated herein. The Manager shall assign a vice
chairman for the committee.

The Committee shall meet as needed upon an invitation by its chairman or its vice-
chairman in case of the former’s absence. The Committee shall meet to discuss items
on the agenda and make the relevant decisions. The Committee’s meetings shall be
deemed as legal if attended by three members or more on condition that the Chairman
be one of them.

Decisions made by the Committee shall be made by majority. If the votes are equal,
the opinion to which the Chairman votes shall be preponderant. The disagreeing
member must explain, in written, the reasons for his disagreement.

The Manager shall assign one of the employees at the Unit as a secretary of the
Committee. Tasks of the Secretary shall be stipulated in the designation resolution.

Decisions made by the Committee shall be subject to the ratification of the Manager.
After being signed, the resolutions shall be kept according to the duly followed
practices in a special register in a safe.

Article (5)

a-

While observing the amounts set in the estimated budget, supplies are purchased upon
an application submitted to the Section showing the quantities requested for purchase,
along with a comprehensive description of requirements.

The application for the purchase of supplies shall be submitted in a reasonable time
that is sufficient to complete the purchase process or the supply in the due course of
time. No application described as URGENT shall be considered unless the case is that
of an emerging need that cannot be expected or forecasted according to the estimation
of the Manager or the person authorized by him.
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c- Approval of the purchase application shall be made in light of the expense approval
instructions.

Article (6)

a- The principle of competition shall be applied to all the transactions of purchasing
supplies in order to solicit the best quality and best price and conditions. The capacity
of the Contractor to be committed to supply according to the conditions and standards
shall be observed during the period of time set for supply.

b- Similar purchases cannot be segregated into several deals/ transactions.
Article (7)

If the standards of the supplies, their quality, and other specifications are equal for the
offers, the person responsible for the purchase must observe the following:

a- Give preference to supplies produced in the Kingdom, on condition that their prices
are calculated on the basis of difference in preferential price set by the Cabinet.

b- Give preference to supplies provided by the competitor who is a permanent resident
of the Kingdom in case the prices are the same.

Article (8)
a- Supplies can be purchased from outside the Kingdom in the following two cases:

1- If the required commodity is not available in the Kingdom and it has been
impossible to purchase it through a mail order.

2- If the Committee recommends that the purchase of the required supplies from
outside the Kingdom directly shall attain the interest of the Unit in terms of cost,
quality and speed of provision.

b- In case he shall approve of purchasing the required supplies from abroad, the
Manager shall have the right to delegate an employee or more to outside the Kingdom
to purchase them, according to either case stipulated in the Cases (1,2) of Paragraph
(a) in this Article. However, the resolution to purchase supplies must be accompanied
with a written approval by the authorized party according to the provisions herein.

Article (9)

Upon the approval of the party authorized to purchase, the Section can replace second
hand supplies with new or second hand supplies upon the resolution of the Committee.
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However, a fair price must be specified for the supplies replaced in line with the interest
of the Unit.

Article (10)

While observing the powers to purchase supplies according to the provisions herein, the
purchase process is done by invitations to tender. However, supplies can be bought
according to one of the following methods:

a- Direct purchase by bargaining with sellers, producers, or suppliers in any of the
following cases:

1-

O-

If prices of the supplies to be purchased are specified by the official authorities or
if they are of internationally set prices.

If the supplies required to face an emergent case do not permit the procedures of
tender invitation or request quotations, to be by the Commission upon a
recommendation by the Manager, based on the recommendation of the
Committee.

If the supplies cannot be provided except from one source.

If the supplies are spare parts, accessories, or tools that are not available at more
than one source in the same level of competence as proved in the technical report
of the specialized and experienced people.

If the purpose of purchasing supplies is to standardize the item or to reduce
variation of equipment in order to provide maintenance and spare parts.

Purchase services that include maintenance, repair, replacement, or inspection
jobs, having that the volume of work is not known when purchasing the supplies.

Purchase of entertainment services and its required supplies necessary for the
Unit’s works.

If the tender is announced or quotations are acquired, but it was not possible to get
adequate quotations from any of them, or if the prices are not reasonable; or it was
not possible to get the whole amount of the supplies planned for purchase from
the same supplier at the scheduled time.

If the quantity of supplies to be purchased does not exceed JD 3,000 (three
thousand Dinars).

b- Requesting price quotations in any of the following cases:
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I- If an emergency and urgent case shall necessitate the provision of supplies
planned to be purchased, and it is hard to expect or predict this need, therefore a
tender could not be produced, the case shall be handled according to the decision
of the Manager upon a recommendation by the Committee.

2- If it has been impossible to obtain more than three offers for the supplies to be
purchased.

3- If the amount of supplies to be purchased does not exceed JD 5000.

4- 1If no relevant and sufficient quotations are submitted for the tender announced
and the authorized party is convinced of the necessity to purchase supplies by
requesting price quotations.

5- If the Manager shall deem it necessary, upon a recommendation by the
Committee, to request quotations of prices from certain parties for reasons related
to professional competence or specialization.

Article (11)

a-

Supplies the value of which is JD 15,000 (fifteen thousand Dinars) or less for each
purchase transaction, shall be purchased upon the Manager’s approval according to
the instructions he shall issue for this purpose.

Supplies the value of which is more than JD 15,000 (fifteen thousand Dinars) up to
JD 50,000 (fifty thousand Dinars) shall be purchased upon the Chairman’s approval
based on the recommendation of the Committee.

Supplies the value of which is more than JD 50,000 (fifty thousand Dinars) and does
not exceed JD 100,000 (one hundred thousand Dinars) shall be purchased upon the
Commission’s approval of based on the Manager’s recommendation upon the
Committee’s recommendation.

Supplies the value of which is more than JD 100,000 (one hundred thousand Dinars)
shall be purchased upon the Board’s approval according to the Committee’s
recommendation based on the Commission’s recommendation.(???)

Article (12)

When announcing any tender, the Committee must take the following procedures:

a-

Set and specify requirements and specifications of supplies, equipment or services, to
be purchased or provided, to meet the needs of the Unit. In the case of technical
issues, opinion of specialists from inside or outside the Unit may be solicited.
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b-

Announce the tender as decided by the Manager; either by publishing it in
newspapers, or dispatching the tender invitation to the relevant parties that are
capable and competent of providing the supplies, equipment or services. This must be
done at least two weeks prior to receiving bids.

Request bidders to submit samples of their proposals, if possible. These samples must
be submitted to the Head of the Section, who signs to the effect of receiving them, to
be considered by the Committee when opening the proposals. Bidders must also
provide the financial bond that the Manager shall decide if he deems it necessary.

Open the proposals with the attendance of the majority of the Committee members.
The proposals must be studied and evaluated, and compared against each other in
order to select the best proposal. The Committee must have their recommendations
written down. At least three proposals must be submitted. If it is impossible to have
three proposals, two can be accepted on condition that it is vindicated and reasons are
specified.

Article (13)

a-

The final referral shall be set to whoever submits the best offer in terms of price and
quality. The owner of the best offer must be of financial, commercial and technical
competence.

If the Committee shall discover that the lower (best) price does not satisfy the interest
of the Unit, for reasons they anticipate with regards to quality or financial,
commercial or technical incompetence of the person submitting the offer, they must
specify the reasons, and the tender is awarded to the most convenient offer. The
referral can be segregated among different offers according to the conditions of
supplying the materials and services, as well as the judgment of the party authorized
to make the decision.

The Committee shall have the right to negotiate with the person with the most
convenient offer, after opening the proposals, to reduce the price if they deem this as
justified.

The Committee shall have the right to re-announce the tender if they find out that the
prices of offers coming to them are high or for any other reasons they shall deem as
relevant and achieve the interest of the Unit.

If need shall rise to get more materials than what is included in the tender invitation,
the specialized committee shall have the right to approve it on condition that the value
of the increase should not exceed 25% of the original tender amount.
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Article (14)

If the bidder, who is awarded the final bid, shall abstain from or fail to deliver the
required materials or services in due time, or if he is late in delivering a quantity of the
original tender, or if he fails to submit any quantity in due time, or if it has been proved
that he is providing supplies or performing services in a fraudulent way, the Manager
shall have the right to take one or more of the following procedures:

a- Confiscate the financial bond or part of it and record it to the account of the Unit.

b- Purchase the supplies or services on the market for the prevailing prices and charge
the difference in price on the abstaining bidder.

c- Request the abstaining bidder to provide the required materials or to re-invite for the
tender as deemed convenient by the Manager and charge the abstaining bidder with
any plus difference in price.

d- Request the abstaining bidder to make up for any harm or defect caused to the Unit.

e- Deny the abstaining bidder the right to bid in any of the Unit’s tenders for the period
that the Unit shall deem as adequate.

Article (15)

The Manager or the person he authorizes in written shall be signing the contracts
concluded with the contractors in compliance with the provisions of these instructions.

Article (16)

a- The contracted supplies shall be supplied to the Unit whether they should be from
inside or outside the Kingdom.

b- The Section shall be receiving the purchased supplies if their amount does not exceed
JD 3,000 (three thousand Dinars). These shall be received after being inspected to
assure their compliance with the required specifications and requirements.

c- The Manager shall form a committee to receive the supplies. The Committee shall
have at least three members who are experts in this domain. The Committee shall
undertake the task to receive supplies the amount of which exceeds JD 3,000 (Three
thousand Jordanian Dinars) from the contractors.

d- Upon an approval of the Manager, the receipt committee shall have the right to
cooperate with the technicians and experts from outside the Unit if necessary. Upon
the Manager recommendation. The Chairman, upon a recommendation by the
Manager, shall have the right to give financial awards to those experts and
technicians.
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e- The receipt Committee shall implement the following:

1- Inspect supplies and materials once they arrive to verify the quantity and its
compliance with the required specifications and requirements.

2- Organize a statement of received supplies showing type, specifications, quantities
and any remarks they exchange while receiving the supplies. The receipt
committee members shall sign the statement.

3- If the receipt committee shall find that the works implemented or the supplies
purchased do not comply with the conditions agreed upon, they must submit a
report on the matter to the Manager. The due amount will not be paid until the
matter is settled.

Article (17)

Parties who provide the supplies or the services must submit an original invoice that is
duly signed.

Article (18)

The Section shall prepare the required documents the inventory of supplies and verify
them with the invoice and receipt statement. The supplies shall be entered into the
warehouses in presence of one of the Receipt Committee members.

Article (19)

Supplies shall be entered into the records of the warechouse immediately after being
received. However, they must be supported with the following documents:

a- Entry document.

b- Statement of the receipt committee for items the amount of which is more than JD
3,000 (three thousand Jordanian Dinars)

c- The original invoice
Article (20)
Supplies will be stored in the designated warehouses in an organized order so that they

will be ready for delivery upon request. Validity period and the nature of each item must
be observed when placing items at stores.
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Records and Registers
Article (21)

The Section and the warehouses shall keep the records and statistical cards of supplies.
Methods and means they shall deem adequate will be followed to organize and monitor
the movement of each type of the items; its distribution, and maintenance of accurate and
precise data recorded.

Article (22)
The Warehouse keeper at the Unit shall be committed to the following:

a- Submit a judicial bond in accordance with the valid financial instructions and the
Manager’s decision in this respect.

b- Preparation of periodical reports on the status of supplies he keeps at least once every
year. These reports must be supported by lists that include the out of use supplies,
surplus items, missing items, and idle items.

c- Monitor the balance of stationery of each item regularly and consistently. If the
inventory is not at the relevant levels, he must submit an application to support the
inventory at the warehouse with the necessary items.

Article (23)

It shall be prohibited to scratch, delete, change, or omit in the documents or cards of
supplies. A mistake must be corrected using permanent red ink and in a clear manner.
The person who introduces the amendment must sign it along with the head of the
Section according to the duly followed practices.

Maintaining and Keeping Supplies
Article (24)
The Section must care for the maintenance of furniture, machines and other items within
the assets of the Unit. It also needs to take all necessary and relevant procedures to keep
and maintain these items.
Article (25)
For the maintenance of fixed assets, the Unit shall conclude agreements with the

supplying party. If such agreements cannot be reached, contracts shall be signed with
specialized technicians to do the required maintenance.
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Article (26)

Each employee shall be responsible for machines, furniture, and tools assigned to him.
He must keep and use them carefully. He must promptly advise of any damage or harm
that occurs thereto in order to be maintained or repaired with no delay. In case of loss of
such items for any reason, he must immediately inform the relevant people.

Sale, Destruction and Scraping of Supplies
Article (27)
Supplies are sold upon a recommendation by the Committee in the following cases:
a- Ifthey are a surplus.
b- If they are damaged and cannot be used.

c- Ifthey are to be replaced with modern items or second hand items that are of a
better productivity.

Article (28)

The Committee shall sell the supplies by auction, upon the approval of the Manager, if
their current estimated value does not exceed JD 5000 (five thousand Dinars). Should the
amount be more than this, the approval of the Chairman must be obtained.

Article (29)
Supplies that cannot be used or those that cannot be sold shall be destroyed as follows:

a- The Section sets a list of supplies to be destroyed, showing type of supplies, date of
purchase, purchase value, book value, current estimated value, description of status
and the reason for destroying them.

b- The Committee shall inspect the supplies to be destroyed before starting the
destruction process. A report shall be prepared to the effect that these supplies can no
longer be used, and that they were not able to sell them. The report shall be submitted
to the Manager to obtain approval for the destruction if the estimated value of items
to be destroyed is up to JD 2000 (two thousand Dinars). If it is more than that, the
Chairman’s approval must be obtained.

Article (30)

When selling or destroying any items that cannot be used or that are in surplus, they must
be supported with a document to prove selling or destruction of these items, as necessary.
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Article (31)

Supplies sold shall be delivered to the purchaser, after receiving their value, according to
a duly produced receipt that shows number, date, and amount of the document upon
which the price was received.

Lending and Gifting
Article (32)

The Manager shall have the right to lend any of the unit’s supplies to a ministry, a
governmental agency, or a public corporation that may need the same. However, this
lending must be duly reported in the records of supplies.

Article (33)

The Manager shall have the right to give as a gift any of the supplies at the Unit which
estimated value does not exceed JD 1000 (one thousand Dinars). If the amount of the
supplies to be gifted is more than that, the approval of the Commission upon the
recommendation of the Manager, based on the Committee’s recommendation, must be
obtained. In all cases, supplies of the Unit can only be gifted to a ministry, governmental
agency, official public institution, charities, sports clubs, cultural associations, and
official guests of the Unit.

General Provisions
Article (34)

The internal auditor of the Unit will implement a full inventory of the Unit’s assets of
different supplies. This inventory will be done whenever deemed necessary by the
Manager who shall have the right to form a special committee for the purpose.

Article (35)

The Manager shall have the right to request a bank guarantee from the Warehouse keeper
or any other employee having supplies under his responsibility. The guarantee amount
must be relevant to the amount of the concerned supplies.

Article (36)

If there should arise any issue related to supplies and is not stipulated in these
instructions, the case shall be submitted to the Board upon a recommendation from the
Commission based on the Committee’s recommendation to issue the a resolution to the
matter.
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Article (37)

Upon the recommendation of the Manager based on the recommendation of the
Committee, the Commission shall have the right to issue the required resolutions to
implement the provisions of these instructions.

These instructions shall be in effect as of........ [oveviiinl. /2002
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Investment Unit Management
At
The Social Security Corporation
Established upon the By-Law No. (111) for the year 2001
Issued upon the provisions of Article (76) of the Law of Social Security

No. (19) for the year (2001)
Internal Control Instructions

Issued upon the provisions of Article (14) of the Unit By-law No. (111)
for the year 2001
Upon a Board of Directors’ Resolution No. () in Session No. ( )
Held on ..../...../2002
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Internal Control Instructions

Issued in compliance with Article (14) of the By-law of Investment of the Property of the
Social Security Corporation No. (111) for the year 2001 upon the Board’s resolution No.
( )inSessionNo.( )heldon...... [ieen... /2002.

Article (1)

These instructions shall be called the “internal control instructions of the investment unit
management at the Social Security Corporation). Provisions of these instructions shall be
applied to all administrative, financial and investment issues and shall be valid as from
the date of being passed by the Board.

Article (2)
The following words and expressions, wherever they should occur in these instructions,

shall have the meanings designated opposite to them unless otherwise connoted by the
context:

Corporation : | The Social Security Corporation

The Commission : | The Unit’s Management Commission that was
formulated in accordance with Article 7 of Regulation
number 111 for the year 2001

The Unit : | The apparatus responsible for managing the investment
of the Corporation’s funds

The Chairman : | The Commission’s Chairman

The Manager : | The Unit’s Executive Manager

The Committee : | The auditing committee formed from the members of the
Commission

The Auditor : | Each employee who is assigned as an internal auditor at

the Unit to do the auditing operations or internal/
financial control.

Article (3)

There shall be assigned at the Unit an internal control cadre. Each employee working in
this cadre shall be called an auditor. Chairperson of this cadre shall be functionally
operating under the Chairman and administratively under the Manager.

This cadre shall comprise of a number of specialized people under the supervision of the
internal auditor. Academic achievement for each of them must be at least B.Sc. in
Accounting; preferably holding a CPA certificate. The internal control cadre Chairperson
shall be assigned upon a resolution by the Board upon a recommendation by the
Chairman supported with a recommendation by the Human Resource Committee at the
Unit.
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Article (4)

a-

The Commission shall form the audit committee from its members. The committee
shall comprise three members with one assigned by the Commission as a chairperson
of the committee. Chairperson of the audit cadre shall be a secretary to the audit
Committee.

The Committee shall meet on a regular basis upon an invitation by its chairperson and
shall submit its reports to the Commission. However, the number of meetings held by
the Committee must not be fewer than six per year.

The meeting shall be considered as legal if attended by two of the members at least
and one of them is the chairperson. Recommendations of the Committee shall be
issued upon majority or in consensus if the meeting is incomplete.

The Committee shall have the right to request any information from any employee at
the Unit. All employees must fully cooperate with the Committee. The Committee
can also solicit legal, investment, technical or administrative consultancy from any
external consultant.

The Committee secretary shall prepare a special record to document minutes of
meetings and resolutions after being signed by the members.

Article (5)

The Committee shall be responsible for the following tasks:

a-

Study and discuss matters and remarks coming from the external auditor and/or the
auditor, in addition to any other matters that the Committee deems as necessary to be
discussed.

Study any comments given by the external auditor in relation with the internal control
procedures and the answers by the Unit Management to such comments.

Study periodical and annual reports as well as the monthly financial position and the
balance sheet before submitting them to the Commission. In addition, study the
approved accounting policies and any other amendments thereto, and substantial
amendments necessitated by the audit procedures. Also, study the commitment level
to the regulations and decisions of the Commission, international accounting
standards and practices, and the international audit standards. The Committee shall
have the right to invite the external auditor or the auditor or the Manager’s deputies
for executive departments for discussion, consultation and exchange of views.
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Article (6)

If the external auditor has reservation, if he expresses a contradictory opinion, or if he
abstains from expressing opinion in his report on the financial data, he must explain the
reasons for that clearly. He must also explain the impact of such reasons on the financial
data and inform the Chairman of this. The Auditor must provide his opinion in terms of
the external auditor’s comments to the Chairman via the Manager and in written format.

Article (7)
The auditor in the Unit must be committed to the following:

a- Implementation of the international audit standards and assuring the compliance of
the executive cadres with the practices and rule of international accounting as well as
commercial bases of accounting. Moreover, there is the compliance with the laws, by-
laws, regulations and decisions issued by the Commission in terms of financial and
administrative issues.

b- Compliance with the professional conduct stipulated in the Law of Audit and the by-
lay and regulations of the valid Jordanian Chartered Auditors’ Association.

c- Follow up on the development and updating of technical and scientific skills as well
as coping with developments and changes in the auditing profession. This shall be
done by means of continuous training courses held by the Jordanian Chartered
Auditors’ Association or any other party accredited thereby.

Article (8)

The Financial/ internal control must observe inspection, assurance, and validation of the
correctness and type of financial transaction as well as the correctness and
comprehensiveness of supporting documents and instruments They must also observe the
sound accounting direction according to the Chart-of-Accounts used by the Unit, in
addition to recording and posting them to manual and/ or electronic accounts, and
balancing these accounts. This also includes ensuring the collection of the Unit’s dues in
their right values and correct times, and the safekeeping of the Unit’s assets and
belongings. Assets, property and set plans at the Unit must be maintained with the
support of audit instruments through the executive departments and the job classifications
approved for the purpose.

Article (9)

Internal control shall be defined as the evaluation activity to audit financial transactions
and administrative decisions according to laws, by-laws, regulations and resolutions of
the Commission, professional practices of the approved international accounting and
audit standards. Scope of work for the internal control includes all activities,
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administrative, financial and investment transactions at the several departments and
sections of the Unit. Moreover, internal control is a control method which measures and
evaluates the efficiency of such control in all domains of work at the Commission. Thus,
these are developed and updated on a permanent and continuous basis.

Article (10)

Tasks and responsibilities of the Auditor:

1-

Evaluate the compliance of all sections in the Unit with the plans and policies, and
assuring that all the activities are being implemented in accordance with laws, by-
laws, regulations and resolutions issued to this effect.

Validate the correctness of recording accounting transactions in books and registers
as well as their entry to the Computer. Moreover, prepare reports and financial lists to
assure their compliance with internationally known accounting rules and practices.

Evaluate the proficiency degree in using the financial and human resources as well as
protecting the Unit’s assets and resources. Also, assist in securing the optimal use of
these resources to maximize benefit and prevent any contingent risks.

Assure the observance of the approved investment policy and the Commission’s
decisions in this respect including the observance of common investment principles.

Implement field supervision on control jobs in order to evaluate performance by
comparing already achieved phases along with the estimated budget to establish any
deviations and study the reasons therefore prior to proposing methods of correction, if
required, taking into consideration that the auditor’s task is of a control nature rather
than executive or procedural.

Assure follow up on revenue collection on time, and recording them in the accounting
registers and books.

Conduct studies, analyses, and tests related to financial issues upon the request of the
Chairman or the Manager or if so required due by work.

Assure relevance of financial and accounting policies and that they observe the basic
quality attributes of international accounting, including being: understandable,
relevant, credible, and comparable.

The auditor shall exercise his tasks with parties that are subject to his control
according to an annual plan prepared for this purpose according to Paragraph (b) of
Article (16) in these instructions. The Chairman shall have the right to assign the
auditor with any additional control tasks.
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10- Assure the implementation of decisions issued by the Commission and the accuracy
degree of implementation.

11- Follow up on procedures related to the implementation of the internal control
reports.

12- Coordinate with external auditors of the Unit concerning the availability and
exchange of information for the purpose of cooperation in implementing the audit
and internal control instructions as well as their efficiency.

13- Produce periodical and monthly reports on control and audit, these reports may be
produced if necessary and upon request. The reports will be submitted to the
Chairman via the Manager with a copy presented to the Committee.

Article (11)

Control and audit processes shall be carried out at the Unit offices or at the venue that
accommodates accounts, registers, and documents or the computer and which are subject
for auditing and inventory.

Article (12)

a- Information received by the Auditor as a result to implementing the work and the
reports submitted to the Manager shall be treated in confidentiality.

b- The Manager shall submit his reports to the Chairman immediately with a copy
presented to the Committee.

Article (13)

Parties and Departments who receive the reports from the Chairman shall be committed
to answer the same within two weeks as from the date of receiving such reports.
Responses by the concerned party shall be enclosed with those of the auditor and
submitted to the Chairman through the Manager.

Article (14)
The Chairman shall have the right to take relevant procedures, either directly or through

the Manager, in order to maintain the Unit’s property and assets in light of the reports he
receives from the Auditor.
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Article (15)

The concerned executive parties in the Unit must provide all necessary facilities to assure
that the external or internal auditor implement the tasks assigned to them to the best level
possible. They must provide the auditors with all resolutions, documents and registers if
they request the same or if auditors are supposed to review them.

Article (16)

a- The external auditor prepares an annual work program at the beginning of each year.
He shall submit it to the Commission, upon a recommendation by the Committee, to
be approved. This is done after the program is considered by the auditor. The
external auditor must be committed to his program once it’s approved by the
Commission.

b- The auditor shall set his annual work program at the beginning of each year and shall
submit it to the Committee upon a recommendation by the Manager to be approved
and adopted.

Article (17)

All financial payments shall be paid at the Unit against duly produced checks in
accordance with the valid stipulations of financial instructions. However, this would not
apply to the disbursements made from petty cash.

Article (18)

Financial payments shall be made upon duly produced instruments, documents and
correct invoices. Copies or duplicate copies of invoices submitted for disbursement at the
Unit shall not be approved except for exceptional cases and while observing the content
of Article (50) of the valid financial instructions.

Article (19)

It shall be absolutely prohibited to segregate the one expense (disbursement) no matter
what the reason may be. Procedures to disburse any expense cannot be furthered unless
duly approved in accordance with laws, by-laws and valid financial instructions as well
as the Commission’s resolutions in this respect and upon completion of approval
procedures to process the disbursement.

Article (20)

The auditor shall be committed to his independent thinking in terms of assignments and
tasks he must implement. He must exert the required effort, be fully non-biased, and
reasonably prudent with this professional conduct to implement his work. He must enjoy
good practice, experience, scientific and practical proficiency as well as regularly
updated technical and scientific information.
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Article (21)

Segregation of financial powers must be observed in terms of expense permission and
approval, repayment phases, accounting record produce and carrying them forward to the
concerned accounts and the issuance of required checks for repayment. At least three
employees from the Unit should participate in the process so that it holds the following
signatures:

a- The employee who starts the expense proceeding.
b- The concerned section head
c- The auditor

d- Authorized signatures as stipulated in the financial instructions.
Article (22)
The Commission and the Unit management team must observe the following controls:

a- Segregate the power of the investment decision from the powers of producing
accounting records and registers, financial control, and bilateral control of safes and
safe keeping.

b- Written and speedy support of decisions and financial proceedings, deposit renewal
and release when these decisions and procedures are taken over the phone.

c- Separate job duties and observe decentralization of investment or financial decision
making as they must not be confined to one person.

d- Regular and independent keeping of financial and investment decisions and records
at the Unit in places provided with control and safety means.

Article (23)

a- Disbursement documents must hold the auditor’s initials to assure his pre-auditing of
all expenses and at all the technical, accounting ,legal and other levels. This applies
to revenue, investment, or capital expenses. In addition, there must be a post-audit of
the Unit revenues.

b- Pre-auditing shall exclude expenses that do not exceed JD 1000 for the one expense
and other expenses that are pre-approved as set by a resolution issued by the
Manager.
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Article (24)

a- The Manager shall form an “inventory committee” in order to do the inventory for
the assets of the Unit at the beginning of December each year. Assignments of the
Committee shall be defined in the formation resolution. The committee shall include
the auditor and shall submit the inventory report to the Manager before the end of
December of each year.

b- On a regular basis and during the year, the auditor shall implement a non-planned
inventory of cash, temporary or permanent advances, and fixed assets of the Unit.
Relevant reports shall be submitted on date to the Manager who in turn submits them
to the Chairman.

c- The cash advances provided by the Unit for the purpose of petty cash payments must
be segregated from private funds of the person receiving this advance payment.
Content of this paragraph shall apply to all the cash property of the Unit.

Article (25)

The Chairman shall have the right to issue resolutions and decisions he deems necessary

to implement these instructions, so long that they do not contradict with the provisions of

articles included therein.

These instructions shall become valid as from....... [oveiiin.. /
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Appendix

Financial, Personnel, Expense Approval,
Supplies and Procurement and
Internal Control Instructions
in Arabic
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